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This is the third issue of the combined Journal of the Nelson and Marlborough Historical Societies and it is pleasing that material is continuing to come forward for publication. There is no doubt a lot more should be published or at least written down. We all have a role to ensure that this is done but all too frequently we do not accept that responsibility. For example how often has someone, as likely as not a relative, told us something of interest, yet did we pursue it and try to find out more? – probably not. Similary many of us have researched a topic for a talk, prepared some notes but taken it no further. It is not necessary that all material be published for if it is on file in a museum, it could later form the basis of an article or perhaps provide vital information for a further researcher. There is also a choice of where to publish, ranging from a sentence or two in a historical society newsletter to a book in its own right. In between this is our own journal.


In this issue of the journal it is heartening to see articles on both Nelson and Marlborough topics. This is fitting as the history of our respective areas are closely interlocked and all topics should be of interest to the members of both societies. Again it is to the efforts of our editor, Mrs Margaret Brown assisted by Mr J. N. W. Newport and Miss N.Anderson that the journal maintains its high standard and continues a series that started in 1955 with the first issue of the Journal of the Nelson Historical Society. Our sincere thanks go to Mrs Brown and her team.




M. R. Johnston.


President

Nelson Historical Society.
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Costs and measurements are given in Historical articles in the form at use at the time. At the time of conversion to dollars one pound equalled two dollars Approximate equivalents for distance were:


1 inch 
5 2.5 centimetres 1 foot 
5 30cm 1 mile 
5 1.6Km
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Chromite and the Dun Mountain Copper Mining Company


M. R. Johnston




The mining of chromite began in Nelson in the late 1850s and continued intermittently until about the turn of the century. It was most successful in the early 1860s and the Dun Mountain Mining Co. Ltd., extracted several thousand tonnes of ore from the slopes of Wooded Peak. Production peaked in 1862 when 3,843 tons, valued at £24,719 (table 1.), was exported from Nelson. At this time total world consumption was, compared to the present day, very small and chrome was used largely to manufacture dye for the cotton garment industry in England. Dyes including yellow, rosaline and the newly discovered mauve colours as well as an alternative to those green dyes containing arsenic compounds whose use was regarded with some suspicion. It was also widely used in the arts for making pigments.


Chromite occurs throughout the 'Nelson mineral belt' extending from D'Urville Island to Tophouse. However, undoubtedly the most important locality was between the heads of the South Branch of the Maitai River and the Roding (or as previously known the Wairoa) River on the east and south faces of Wooded Peak some 2km WSW of the Dun Mountain. The location of the various deposits are shown on the 1911 geological map accompanying the Dun Mountain Subdivision and their origin has been recently discussed in the 1:50 000 Dun Mountain Geological map.


When chromite was first discovered in this locality is not known and certainly initial interest was in copper, specimens of which had been found in early 1852 in the Maitai River. Consequently a line of copper mineralization was defined extending along the eastern slopes of the 1110m high Wooded Peak. In 1854 particularly due to the efforts of William Long Wrey, a Cornish miner, some capital was raised in England and access up the Maitai to the mineralisation was improved allowing ore samples to be brought out. In 1856 this included 16 tons of excellent copper ores (Hochstetter) and according to Palmer, 15 tons of chrome ore. In 1857 the London registered and based Dun Mountain Copper Mining Company Ltd (6 Great Winchester Street) with a capital of £75,000 in one pound shares was formed. In the same year the company sent the engineer Thomas R. Hacket to Nelson to manage both the exploration and development of the mineralisation and to investigate an improved access to the area which was up to 1000m above sea level. On arrival in Nelson Hacket was not impressed with the copper mineralisation, recognising that although the quality was good the amount of ore available appeared small. However he noted that the chrome ore deposits were more extensive and recommended their exploitation. The principal deposits were high on the east face of Wooded Peak a little to the southwest of Coppermine Saddle and at the southern end of the line of copper mineralisation. The company lost no time in forwarding materials for a railway and these arrived in Nelson early in 1858, However, Bailey records that the material was "locked up in the company's store room on the beach" and construction did not commence because "the limited demand said to exist for this ore in the English market leaves it very doubtful whether the price realised will leave a sufficient margin for the shareholders". In April 1858 the company called for tenders to transport 50 tons of chrome ore to the Port. As this would have been by pack horse down the Maitai valley not surprisingly costs were high being not less than £6 per ton (Palmer).







[image: Aerial photograph of Wells Spur forming ihe southeast side of Wooded Peak (1110m). The contact between the "mineral belt" rocks (foreground) is marked by the abrupt change from low scrubby vegetation to forest. Above the railway are the tip heads of the chrome mines and the foundations of the ore chutes. – Photo: D. L. Homer. New Zealand Geological Survey.]
Aerial photograph of Wells Spur forming ihe southeast side of Wooded Peak (1110m). The contact between the "mineral belt" rocks (foreground) is marked by the abrupt change from low scrubby vegetation to forest. Above the railway are the tip heads of the chrome mines and the foundations of the ore chutes. – Photo: D. L. Homer. New Zealand Geological Survey.







Although the Dun Mountain Company was London based its day-to-day operations in Nelson were controlled by a local committee comprising, for example, in 1858, Dr (later Sir David) Monro (Chairman), William Wells, and Hacket (Secretary). From the start things did not go smoothly for in 1859 the company was only receiving £3 per ton for the ore in London and until some reduction in the high transport costs from the mines to the Port was made it was obvious that the whole operation would be uneconomic. Consequently as Monro records: "Went to the Dun Mountain Company offices. Despatches have been received (from London), ordering the committee to pay off all the men and discontinue every item of expenditure. Mr Hacket's salary is not to be paid to him". In addition Bailey refers to public meetings held to investigate an alleged charge of fraud against one of the managing committee.


In August and September of 1859 the Australian geologist Dr Ferdinand von Hochstetter (1829–1884) visited New Zealand as a member of the "Novara" Expedition and was asked by the Nelson Provincial Government to report on the mineral potential of the province. In Nelson he visited Dun Mountain and found that it consisted of "a very peculiar kind of rock, of yellowish-green colour when recently broken, but turning rusty-brown on the surface when decomposing. The mass of the rock is olivine, containing fine black grains of chromate of iron… I called it Dunite". Monro's dairy for 29 August to 1 September 1859 records Hochstetter's visit to Dun Mountain and for 30 August he wrote "we went out to look at the chrome mine, but the rain came on again with sleet and we got ourselves wet through. Returned to the cottages…". In the afternoon it moderated again and we all went out and examined the original workings". At the time of Hochstetter's visit there was considerable controversy over the copper deposits on Wooded peak with the principal opponents being Wrey and Hacket. Hochstetter, who backed Hacket, had this to say: "The Cornish miner (Wrey) who instigated the mining believes with much too vivid an imagination that conditions in his native country, the rich copper lodes of Cornwall, must also be reproduced on this mountain. But the copper ores are here formed only in individual, generally


[image: The 3ft gauge Dun Mountain railway crossing the "Mineral Belt" at 980m above sea level on the south side ot Wooded Peak. In the distance is Mt Claude (892m) southwest of the upper Roding River. – Alexander Tumbull Library.]
The 3ft gauge Dun Mountain railway crossing the "Mineral Belt" at 980m above sea level on the south side ot Wooded Peak. In the distance is Mt Claude (892m) southwest of the upper Roding River. – Alexander Tumbull Library.




not very rich (veins)… which … can be followed for a distance of about two miles. These conditions make it clear that the results of the mining enterprise must be an uncertain one. The chances of striking rich lenses of (copper) ore are too slender to continue the extremely costly mining venture". However, Hochstetter referred to the chrome deposits adjacent to the "Duppa Lode" at the south end of the line of copper mineralisation as "an extraordinary abundance of chrome iron ore was evident. Whole portions of rock consisted of it and many hundreds of tons of almost massive ore lay in blocks of various sizes scattered on the slope. The ore forms no lodes, but appears in bands in the serpentinite… it turns up more or less richly, either in massive great bodies, or individual grains". However at the time of Hochstetter's visit a tunnel ("Deep Adit Tunnel") driven west for 116 yards at right angles to the Duppa Lode had disturbingly failed to reveal anything of significance.


In 1860 when the price of chromite rose to £7 per ton on the London market (Monro) and later to £10.10.s per ton (1865 Juror's Report) there was considerable optimism which led to the construction of the Dun Mountain Railway. However, Monro (1860) had a word of caution in writing to Hochstetter "The Directors have written to me to get 2,000 tons ready, and they are sending out an engineer to lay down a line for a railway from the mines to the Albion Wharf. There can be little doubt that there is a large quantity of ore in the Serpentine of the Dun Mountain, but it does not appear to preserve its continuity in the same manner as metalliferous lodes in Europe". Hochstetter in a public lecture in Nelson in 1859 also expressed reservations about the in situ ore.


Eventually in July 1860 the engineers G. C. Fitzgibbon and W. T. Doyne arrived in Nelson and construction of the railway began in March 1861. Thus Hochstetter wrote "Nelson can even boast of a rail-road, the first constructed upon New Zealand soil". The actual construction and operation of the 3 foot gauge 13½ mile long railway is described in New Zealand's First Railway" published to mark the centenary of its opening on 3 February 1862. Instead of following the Maitai valley as proposed by Wrey and others it ran from Port Nelson, through the Brook Valley to cross Third House Saddle into the Roding (Rhoding of some early accounts) valley. From there it continued to climb, around the flanks of Wooded Peak

* to its terminus near Coppermine Saddle between the head of the Roding River and the South Branch of the Maitai River. Gradients on the line were as high as 1:20, with numerous cuttings, embankments (on which local rock was put to to good use), tight curves and bridges over gullies. In days of pick and shovel and wheelbarrow its building was a major engineering undertaking. However, despite being competently supervised it would appear that the foundations were not always adequate for a future manager Joseph Cook was to write on 10/9/1864: "I am not prepared to give you any estimate of the future cost of keeping the railroad in good working order as a large portion of it is built with very perishable materials laid upon insecure foundations, already it is showing signs of decay and giving way in many places" and on 11/11/1865 "The railroad is now in pretty good order but it requires great watchfulness and attention as there is constant sinking of parts of it".





The company's yard was at the head of Brook Street and in places along the line a few bricks now mark the location of huts (or houses as they were then called). The most important of these was Third House on the divide between The Brook and Roding River (also known as Wairoa Saddle). At Third House and also at the end of the line there were stables for the horses (the Nelson Provincial Museum has plans for the former). Second House was about 100m west of where a tributary of the Brook is crossed and Fourth House is just before the Mineral Belt. There were also mine buildings on the lower flanks of Dun Mountain (Hochstetter – map) and the geologist S. H. Cox in 1882 refers to a managers house. About halfway between Third House and the mineral belt and where a band of limestone is encountered is the remains of a lime kiln. The kiln, like many of the embankments, is constructed of free standing slabs of rock and has an inner brick chimney. Operation of the railway was simple, with empty waggons pulled by horses to the mine. Full waggons, coupled in pairs and under the control of a brakeman, descended by means of gravity to the company's yard in the Brook Valley. During its first year the railway transported 3910 tons of chromite. However up to 900 tons a month could be carried giving an annual tonnage of 10,000 tons. This figure is of interest as at the time of construction ore reserves were calculated by Hacket as at least 10,000 tons. Thus at the first year's rate of extraction the reserves would last only 3 years and if the maximum capacity of the line was used, only one year. This is significant when it comes to accusations and counter accusations between the committee in Nelson and the Directors in London when the company's prospects later declined. Part of an unsigned and undated draft of a letter sent from the Nelson committee to the Directors exists in the provincial museum. This letter was written, probably in 1863, when the company had largely ceased operations and answers a number of the matters raised by the Directors. From this it is certain that the Directors criticism was not motivated by the price obtained in London for chromite for the committee wrote "…you remind the committee that you only authorised the construction of a railway upon their positive information that there were at least 10,000 tons of ore "in sight" – symptoms of extraction appearing after 2,500 tons have been got you hold the committee responsible for failure". However the committee declined to accept responsibility for "Beyond being the agents by which Mr Hacket's calculations and statements were forwarded to you we neither pretended to go nor do we see how we can have incurred any responsibility". Thus it appears that both the committee and directors were in agreement in criticizing Hacket for the same draft states "But we are glad to observe that…you place the report of the existance of the 10,000 tons of chrome on his shoulders stating at the same time that it was confirmed by Mr Fitzgibbon and Mr Doyne". At this time Hacket was "absent from Nelson". Whilst suspending operations the committee retained 4 men to maintain the railway in good repair and anticipated that "the receipts from the firewood, lime and the omnibus (the passenger service to the Port) enable us to pay your manager's salary, that of the secretary and the expenses of the men… The receipts and expenditure very nearly balance one another". Even in the 1860's labour costs were high and were blamed for the overrun of railway construction costs: "it is difficult perhaps for the Directors to realise the expense of everything where an ordinary labourer's wages are ten shillings a day".







[image: Terminus of the Dun Mountain Railway in 1863. The chrome ore was conveyed from the mines above the railway to the waggons by means of chutes, the rock foundations of which are still preserved. – Photo: Alexander Turnbull Library.]
Terminus of the Dun Mountain Railway in 1863. The chrome ore was conveyed from the mines above the railway to the waggons by means of chutes, the rock foundations of which are still preserved. – Photo: Alexander Turnbull Library.







In 1864 the company sent a 'mining captain' Joseph Cock, of Cornwall, to report on the Dun Mountain property, Cock, his son John and two assistants, sailed for Nelson direct from Gravesend on the clipper ship 'Violet'. John Honeycomb Cock established John J. Cock & Company, which when taken over by his younger brother (Joseph Henry) became J. H. Cock & Co. Ltd., a firm closely associated with the Anchor Company.


Joseph Cock kept copies of the letters he sent monthly to the Directors in London and the provincial museum has some of these. He soon confirmed that the chrome deposits were aligned nearly north-south and although "it can be traced a considerable distance across the mountain (Wooded Peak)… the ore appears to be very irregular both in quantity and quality and is not of sufficient value to repay the expenses of working at the present high price of labour" (9/8/1864). Cock thought that the old workings (i.e. above the railway) were worthy of further investigations. However, he was hindered by the careless manner in which the workings have been left unsupported by timber and consequent falling in of the ground very little of the chrome bearing ground is at present visible" and underground investigations were required. His subsequent letters which became increasingly despondent about the chrome deposits, describe the progress of these investigations, including the driving of crosscuts and levels which extended (presumably westward) under the old workings. On 16/11/1864 he reported that they had located "300 to 400 tons of ore, that can be taken out and conveyed to the shipping port at a cost not exceeding thirty shillings a ton". As the ore was not first class chrome which the company had instructed its committee it was only interested in, he decided against making shipments at that time. He also prophesised that "if this sort of chrome will not pay. I can hold out no hope of making profitable returns from any part of the property". Thus the drives and levels found little chrome beneath the old workings and although elswhere on the property chrome is "scattered over a great extent…, it is however generally of inferior quality, I could not undertake to collect from the whole of the property one thousand tons of equal quality to the last shipment, nor even ten tons of the quality you ask for". By 10 March 1865 Cock had suspended many operations and the miners took "the places of some of our workmen who have left to go to the gold diggings". Explorations, however, continued with few encouraging signs. At one stage it appears that a branch line to chrome deposits below the railway was contemplated by the Director's in 1864 for Cock (10/9/1864) reports that a line "to the lower part of the property where it was proposed to make a branch railroad. I have carefully examined this and broken splendid specimens of chrome but 1 cannot see a sufficient quantity of it to warrant the expenditure that would be incurred in making four miles of railroad or even one mile". On 10/6/1865 Cock acknowledged the directors instructions that mining of the chrome (presumably the 300 to 400 tons located under the old workings) commence. This required the timbering of the mine and also the construction of about 50 fathoms (55m) of railroad, presumably an extension of the line further towards Coppermine Saddle. Costs were still established to be within the thirty shillings per ton upper cost limit of getting the chrome to Port Nelson. Mining continued through July (11/7/65) although much "dead rock was encountered with chrome" and "the layers or beds varying considerably in quality". However in the deepest part of the working a 2 feet wide layer yielded 3 tons of average quality ore to the 6 foot (of drive) and could be extracted within the thirty shillings per ton limit. By

August (11/8/65) ore was being extracted at the rate of "10 tons a week", ore grades were generally low, about 20% of chrome. In August 40 tons were extracted, increasing to 50 tons for September before declining to only 20 tons for October and 30 tons for November (letters 11/9/65, 11/11/65) Costs did not exceed twenty five shillings per ton and presumably ultimately returned a profit. In the meantime expenditure was met by sales of lime and firewood. From Cock's letters the return from these items was variable, there being for example a greater demand for wood in winter. Lime sales depended largely on building activity and it would appear that the lime kiln was not in the best place, for amongst the Cock papers is a letter (10.6.65) stating "that the lime kiln is built in the wrong place, and the necessity for building a new one… it would be desirable to do this as soon as possible, it would effect a saving of five shillings a ton on the cost of burning the lime which at present rate of sales would in 12 months repay the costs of building the kiln". Presumably the new kiln, if built would have been closer to more easily quarried limestone. At one stage the company instructed Cock to locate roofing slate but he replied negatively on the availability of this.


Late in 1865 the grade of chrome was declining and by the end of the year chrome of economic ore grade was exhausted with Cock reporting in despair (10/1/1866): …and I know not where to get another ton of ore of the quality required to be remunerative" … "Having fully satisfied myself by careful and minute examination of the whole of the property as well as by various trials underground that the prospects of the mine do not warrant further outlay, I have suspended all mining operations". Of the 400 tons extracted from beneath the old workings 100 tons was rejected as inferior quality containing less than 30% Cr
20 
3. Of the remainder "carefully picked ore" 200 tons was shipped to England in November 1865 in "British Merchant" and the rest in January 1866 in the "Water Nymph; Morrison, Sclanders & Co. handled the shipping arrangements.


Whether any further ore was extracted from the Dun Mountain property is not known but it appears unlikely although Cock continued as manager. The geologist E. H. Davis wrote after a visit to Nelson in 1870 that "There is a little (chrome) left about the old workings but I was assured by the present manager to the company that there was none left underground". In 1872 the company's affairs were wound up and on 15 May 1872 the "Nelson Examiner" announced the sale by auction of "the whole of the property of the Dun Mountain Copper Mining Company" with Morrison, Sclanders & Co. the company's agents. Except for the port section, the line must have been under discussion for some time for in a letter (12/1/72) to the company, Cock asked for a decision concerning the transport of building stones before the rails were taken up.


Various reasons have been given for the demise of the Dun Mountain Company. For example, it has been argued by A. N. Palmer that the American Civil War (1861–65) with its consequent blockade of the southern confederate ports and considerable disruption of the cotton industry reduced the demand for dyes and hence Nelson chrome. Another possible reason, given by Davis, is that as the total consumption of chrome in England did not exceed 2,000 tons per year Nelson chrome because of high labour costs and distance from the English market could not compare against mines in Orkney, Norway and Baltimore. Also only a slight increase in price would make other 

European deposits economic. These reasons, whilst perhaps contributing to a decline in price do not appear to be the main reason for the company's difficulties.


All through the company's existence the price of chromite was high reaching a peak of £10.10s per ton and even in 1865 when the company ceased mining the 1865 Jurors report gives the price as £5 per ton. Also Sir James Hector gives one possible reason for the price dropping from its peak and that was the discovery and ready availability of aniline dyes which were extracted from coal tar. It appears that labour or shipping costs did not seriously disadvantage Nelson for the Cock papers show that ore was extracted and transported to Port Nelson at less than 30/- per ton stipulated by the company directors. The cost of freight to London is not known but Hector gives a figure of £3/13s per ton for ore delivered to London and in 1882 when there was a resurgence of interest in chrome, 15/- per ton were quoted by Cox. There is also an intriguing reference by Hector to chrome ore being shipped as ballast thus implying cheaper rates on ships bound for England that would in all probability be returning largly empty. The company's report to 30 June 1864, a copy of which is held in the museum, states that the company was involved in the establishment of Connah's Quay Chemical Co. Ltd. to use the company's chromite. This and the Directors instructions of 1865 to Cock to mine the ore remaining under the old (Hacket's) workings implies that the company could still dispose of chrome if of suitable quality. It is therefore difficult to avoid the conclusion that the unavailability of chrome of reasonable grade (30% or better Cr
2O
3) after the relatively easily accessible deposits on the surface of Wooded Peak were worked out was the major cause for the company winding up its New Zealand affairs.It is also probable that the high quality chrome formed relatively thin, steeply dipping layers within the serpentinite of Wooded Peak. However over a long period of time the erosion of the softer serpentinite enclosing the deposits resulted in a large accumulation or lag deposit of high quality chromite blocks on the surface. This in turn gave a false impression of the quantity and quality of the chrome underneath.






Table 1.


Chrome ore exports from New Zealand (Mines Handbook 1887) The bulk of the ore would be from Wooded Peak but includes an unknown but probably significant quantity from elsewhere in Nelson such as the Hacket Stream and the Serpentine River. The table also excludes trial shipments sent in the late 1850s.






	

	Tons

	Value in £

	Value/tons





	1858

	3

	25

	8





	1859

	8

	120

	15





	1860

	116

	1440

	12





	1861

	52

	520

	10





	1862

	3843

	24719

	6





	1863

	595

	4318

	7





	1864

	768

	4910

	6





	1865

	–

	–

	–





	1866

	281

	1315

	5





	

	5666

	37367
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[Chromite and the Dun Mountain Copper Mining Company]




The mining of chromite began in Nelson in the late 1850s and continued intermittently until about the turn of the century. It was most successful in the early 1860s and the Dun Mountain Mining Co. Ltd., extracted several thousand tonnes of ore from the slopes of Wooded Peak. Production peaked in 1862 when 3,843 tons, valued at £24,719 (table 1.), was exported from Nelson. At this time total world consumption was, compared to the present day, very small and chrome was used largely to manufacture dye for the cotton garment industry in England. Dyes including yellow, rosaline and the newly discovered mauve colours as well as an alternative to those green dyes containing arsenic compounds whose use was regarded with some suspicion. It was also widely used in the arts for making pigments.


Chromite occurs throughout the 'Nelson mineral belt' extending from D'Urville Island to Tophouse. However, undoubtedly the most important locality was between the heads of the South Branch of the Maitai River and the Roding (or as previously known the Wairoa) River on the east and south faces of Wooded Peak some 2km WSW of the Dun Mountain. The location of the various deposits are shown on the 1911 geological map accompanying the Dun Mountain Subdivision and their origin has been recently discussed in the 1:50 000 Dun Mountain Geological map.


When chromite was first discovered in this locality is not known and certainly initial interest was in copper, specimens of which had been found in early 1852 in the Maitai River. Consequently a line of copper mineralization was defined extending along the eastern slopes of the 1110m high Wooded Peak. In 1854 particularly due to the efforts of William Long Wrey, a Cornish miner, some capital was raised in England and access up the Maitai to the mineralisation was improved allowing ore samples to be brought out. In 1856 this included 16 tons of excellent copper ores (Hochstetter) and according to Palmer, 15 tons of chrome ore. In 1857 the London registered and based Dun Mountain Copper Mining Company Ltd (6 Great Winchester Street) with a capital of £75,000 in one pound shares was formed. In the same year the company sent the engineer Thomas R. Hacket to Nelson to manage both the exploration and development of the mineralisation and to investigate an improved access to the area which was up to 1000m above sea level. On arrival in Nelson Hacket was not impressed with the copper mineralisation, recognising that although the quality was good the amount of ore available appeared small. However he noted that the chrome ore deposits were more extensive and recommended their exploitation. The principal deposits were high on the east face of Wooded Peak a little to the southwest of Coppermine Saddle and at the southern end of the line of copper mineralisation. The company lost no time in forwarding materials for a railway and these arrived in Nelson early in 1858, However, Bailey records that the material was "locked up in the company's store room on the beach" and construction did not commence because "the limited demand said to exist for this ore in the English market leaves it very doubtful whether the price realised will leave a sufficient margin for the shareholders". In April 1858 the company called for tenders to transport 50 tons of chrome ore to the Port. As this would have been by pack horse down the Maitai valley not surprisingly costs were high being not less than £6 per ton (Palmer).







[image: Aerial photograph of Wells Spur forming ihe southeast side of Wooded Peak (1110m). The contact between the "mineral belt" rocks (foreground) is marked by the abrupt change from low scrubby vegetation to forest. Above the railway are the tip heads of the chrome mines and the foundations of the ore chutes. – Photo: D. L. Homer. New Zealand Geological Survey.]
Aerial photograph of Wells Spur forming ihe southeast side of Wooded Peak (1110m). The contact between the "mineral belt" rocks (foreground) is marked by the abrupt change from low scrubby vegetation to forest. Above the railway are the tip heads of the chrome mines and the foundations of the ore chutes. – Photo: D. L. Homer. New Zealand Geological Survey.







Although the Dun Mountain Company was London based its day-to-day operations in Nelson were controlled by a local committee comprising, for example, in 1858, Dr (later Sir David) Monro (Chairman), William Wells, and Hacket (Secretary). From the start things did not go smoothly for in 1859 the company was only receiving £3 per ton for the ore in London and until some reduction in the high transport costs from the mines to the Port was made it was obvious that the whole operation would be uneconomic. Consequently as Monro records: "Went to the Dun Mountain Company offices. Despatches have been received (from London), ordering the committee to pay off all the men and discontinue every item of expenditure. Mr Hacket's salary is not to be paid to him". In addition Bailey refers to public meetings held to investigate an alleged charge of fraud against one of the managing committee.


In August and September of 1859 the Australian geologist Dr Ferdinand von Hochstetter (1829–1884) visited New Zealand as a member of the "Novara" Expedition and was asked by the Nelson Provincial Government to report on the mineral potential of the province. In Nelson he visited Dun Mountain and found that it consisted of "a very peculiar kind of rock, of yellowish-green colour when recently broken, but turning rusty-brown on the surface when decomposing. The mass of the rock is olivine, containing fine black grains of chromate of iron… I called it Dunite". Monro's dairy for 29 August to 1 September 1859 records Hochstetter's visit to Dun Mountain and for 30 August he wrote "we went out to look at the chrome mine, but the rain came on again with sleet and we got ourselves wet through. Returned to the cottages…". In the afternoon it moderated again and we all went out and examined the original workings". At the time of Hochstetter's visit there was considerable controversy over the copper deposits on Wooded peak with the principal opponents being Wrey and Hacket. Hochstetter, who backed Hacket, had this to say: "The Cornish miner (Wrey) who instigated the mining believes with much too vivid an imagination that conditions in his native country, the rich copper lodes of Cornwall, must also be reproduced on this mountain. But the copper ores are here formed only in individual, generally


[image: The 3ft gauge Dun Mountain railway crossing the "Mineral Belt" at 980m above sea level on the south side ot Wooded Peak. In the distance is Mt Claude (892m) southwest of the upper Roding River. – Alexander Tumbull Library.]
The 3ft gauge Dun Mountain railway crossing the "Mineral Belt" at 980m above sea level on the south side ot Wooded Peak. In the distance is Mt Claude (892m) southwest of the upper Roding River. – Alexander Tumbull Library.




not very rich (veins)… which … can be followed for a distance of about two miles. These conditions make it clear that the results of the mining enterprise must be an uncertain one. The chances of striking rich lenses of (copper) ore are too slender to continue the extremely costly mining venture". However, Hochstetter referred to the chrome deposits adjacent to the "Duppa Lode" at the south end of the line of copper mineralisation as "an extraordinary abundance of chrome iron ore was evident. Whole portions of rock consisted of it and many hundreds of tons of almost massive ore lay in blocks of various sizes scattered on the slope. The ore forms no lodes, but appears in bands in the serpentinite… it turns up more or less richly, either in massive great bodies, or individual grains". However at the time of Hochstetter's visit a tunnel ("Deep Adit Tunnel") driven west for 116 yards at right angles to the Duppa Lode had disturbingly failed to reveal anything of significance.


In 1860 when the price of chromite rose to £7 per ton on the London market (Monro) and later to £10.10.s per ton (1865 Juror's Report) there was considerable optimism which led to the construction of the Dun Mountain Railway. However, Monro (1860) had a word of caution in writing to Hochstetter "The Directors have written to me to get 2,000 tons ready, and they are sending out an engineer to lay down a line for a railway from the mines to the Albion Wharf. There can be little doubt that there is a large quantity of ore in the Serpentine of the Dun Mountain, but it does not appear to preserve its continuity in the same manner as metalliferous lodes in Europe". Hochstetter in a public lecture in Nelson in 1859 also expressed reservations about the in situ ore.


Eventually in July 1860 the engineers G. C. Fitzgibbon and W. T. Doyne arrived in Nelson and construction of the railway began in March 1861. Thus Hochstetter wrote "Nelson can even boast of a rail-road, the first constructed upon New Zealand soil". The actual construction and operation of the 3 foot gauge 13½ mile long railway is described in New Zealand's First Railway" published to mark the centenary of its opening on 3 February 1862. Instead of following the Maitai valley as proposed by Wrey and others it ran from Port Nelson, through the Brook Valley to cross Third House Saddle into the Roding (Rhoding of some early accounts) valley. From there it continued to climb, around the flanks of Wooded Peak

* to its terminus near Coppermine Saddle between the head of the Roding River and the South Branch of the Maitai River. Gradients on the line were as high as 1:20, with numerous cuttings, embankments (on which local rock was put to to good use), tight curves and bridges over gullies. In days of pick and shovel and wheelbarrow its building was a major engineering undertaking. However, despite being competently supervised it would appear that the foundations were not always adequate for a future manager Joseph Cook was to write on 10/9/1864: "I am not prepared to give you any estimate of the future cost of keeping the railroad in good working order as a large portion of it is built with very perishable materials laid upon insecure foundations, already it is showing signs of decay and giving way in many places" and on 11/11/1865 "The railroad is now in pretty good order but it requires great watchfulness and attention as there is constant sinking of parts of it".





The company's yard was at the head of Brook Street and in places along the line a few bricks now mark the location of huts (or houses as they were then called). The most important of these was Third House on the divide between The Brook and Roding River (also known as Wairoa Saddle). At Third House and also at the end of the line there were stables for the horses (the Nelson Provincial Museum has plans for the former). Second House was about 100m west of where a tributary of the Brook is crossed and Fourth House is just before the Mineral Belt. There were also mine buildings on the lower flanks of Dun Mountain (Hochstetter – map) and the geologist S. H. Cox in 1882 refers to a managers house. About halfway between Third House and the mineral belt and where a band of limestone is encountered is the remains of a lime kiln. The kiln, like many of the embankments, is constructed of free standing slabs of rock and has an inner brick chimney. Operation of the railway was simple, with empty waggons pulled by horses to the mine. Full waggons, coupled in pairs and under the control of a brakeman, descended by means of gravity to the company's yard in the Brook Valley. During its first year the railway transported 3910 tons of chromite. However up to 900 tons a month could be carried giving an annual tonnage of 10,000 tons. This figure is of interest as at the time of construction ore reserves were calculated by Hacket as at least 10,000 tons. Thus at the first year's rate of extraction the reserves would last only 3 years and if the maximum capacity of the line was used, only one year. This is significant when it comes to accusations and counter accusations between the committee in Nelson and the Directors in London when the company's prospects later declined. Part of an unsigned and undated draft of a letter sent from the Nelson committee to the Directors exists in the provincial museum. This letter was written, probably in 1863, when the company had largely ceased operations and answers a number of the matters raised by the Directors. From this it is certain that the Directors criticism was not motivated by the price obtained in London for chromite for the committee wrote "…you remind the committee that you only authorised the construction of a railway upon their positive information that there were at least 10,000 tons of ore "in sight" – symptoms of extraction appearing after 2,500 tons have been got you hold the committee responsible for failure". However the committee declined to accept responsibility for "Beyond being the agents by which Mr Hacket's calculations and statements were forwarded to you we neither pretended to go nor do we see how we can have incurred any responsibility". Thus it appears that both the committee and directors were in agreement in criticizing Hacket for the same draft states "But we are glad to observe that…you place the report of the existance of the 10,000 tons of chrome on his shoulders stating at the same time that it was confirmed by Mr Fitzgibbon and Mr Doyne". At this time Hacket was "absent from Nelson". Whilst suspending operations the committee retained 4 men to maintain the railway in good repair and anticipated that "the receipts from the firewood, lime and the omnibus (the passenger service to the Port) enable us to pay your manager's salary, that of the secretary and the expenses of the men… The receipts and expenditure very nearly balance one another". Even in the 1860's labour costs were high and were blamed for the overrun of railway construction costs: "it is difficult perhaps for the Directors to realise the expense of everything where an ordinary labourer's wages are ten shillings a day".







[image: Terminus of the Dun Mountain Railway in 1863. The chrome ore was conveyed from the mines above the railway to the waggons by means of chutes, the rock foundations of which are still preserved. – Photo: Alexander Turnbull Library.]
Terminus of the Dun Mountain Railway in 1863. The chrome ore was conveyed from the mines above the railway to the waggons by means of chutes, the rock foundations of which are still preserved. – Photo: Alexander Turnbull Library.







In 1864 the company sent a 'mining captain' Joseph Cock, of Cornwall, to report on the Dun Mountain property, Cock, his son John and two assistants, sailed for Nelson direct from Gravesend on the clipper ship 'Violet'. John Honeycomb Cock established John J. Cock & Company, which when taken over by his younger brother (Joseph Henry) became J. H. Cock & Co. Ltd., a firm closely associated with the Anchor Company.


Joseph Cock kept copies of the letters he sent monthly to the Directors in London and the provincial museum has some of these. He soon confirmed that the chrome deposits were aligned nearly north-south and although "it can be traced a considerable distance across the mountain (Wooded Peak)… the ore appears to be very irregular both in quantity and quality and is not of sufficient value to repay the expenses of working at the present high price of labour" (9/8/1864). Cock thought that the old workings (i.e. above the railway) were worthy of further investigations. However, he was hindered by the careless manner in which the workings have been left unsupported by timber and consequent falling in of the ground very little of the chrome bearing ground is at present visible" and underground investigations were required. His subsequent letters which became increasingly despondent about the chrome deposits, describe the progress of these investigations, including the driving of crosscuts and levels which extended (presumably westward) under the old workings. On 16/11/1864 he reported that they had located "300 to 400 tons of ore, that can be taken out and conveyed to the shipping port at a cost not exceeding thirty shillings a ton". As the ore was not first class chrome which the company had instructed its committee it was only interested in, he decided against making shipments at that time. He also prophesised that "if this sort of chrome will not pay. I can hold out no hope of making profitable returns from any part of the property". Thus the drives and levels found little chrome beneath the old workings and although elswhere on the property chrome is "scattered over a great extent…, it is however generally of inferior quality, I could not undertake to collect from the whole of the property one thousand tons of equal quality to the last shipment, nor even ten tons of the quality you ask for". By 10 March 1865 Cock had suspended many operations and the miners took "the places of some of our workmen who have left to go to the gold diggings". Explorations, however, continued with few encouraging signs. At one stage it appears that a branch line to chrome deposits below the railway was contemplated by the Director's in 1864 for Cock (10/9/1864) reports that a line "to the lower part of the property where it was proposed to make a branch railroad. I have carefully examined this and broken splendid specimens of chrome but 1 cannot see a sufficient quantity of it to warrant the expenditure that would be incurred in making four miles of railroad or even one mile". On 10/6/1865 Cock acknowledged the directors instructions that mining of the chrome (presumably the 300 to 400 tons located under the old workings) commence. This required the timbering of the mine and also the construction of about 50 fathoms (55m) of railroad, presumably an extension of the line further towards Coppermine Saddle. Costs were still established to be within the thirty shillings per ton upper cost limit of getting the chrome to Port Nelson. Mining continued through July (11/7/65) although much "dead rock was encountered with chrome" and "the layers or beds varying considerably in quality". However in the deepest part of the working a 2 feet wide layer yielded 3 tons of average quality ore to the 6 foot (of drive) and could be extracted within the thirty shillings per ton limit. By

August (11/8/65) ore was being extracted at the rate of "10 tons a week", ore grades were generally low, about 20% of chrome. In August 40 tons were extracted, increasing to 50 tons for September before declining to only 20 tons for October and 30 tons for November (letters 11/9/65, 11/11/65) Costs did not exceed twenty five shillings per ton and presumably ultimately returned a profit. In the meantime expenditure was met by sales of lime and firewood. From Cock's letters the return from these items was variable, there being for example a greater demand for wood in winter. Lime sales depended largely on building activity and it would appear that the lime kiln was not in the best place, for amongst the Cock papers is a letter (10.6.65) stating "that the lime kiln is built in the wrong place, and the necessity for building a new one… it would be desirable to do this as soon as possible, it would effect a saving of five shillings a ton on the cost of burning the lime which at present rate of sales would in 12 months repay the costs of building the kiln". Presumably the new kiln, if built would have been closer to more easily quarried limestone. At one stage the company instructed Cock to locate roofing slate but he replied negatively on the availability of this.


Late in 1865 the grade of chrome was declining and by the end of the year chrome of economic ore grade was exhausted with Cock reporting in despair (10/1/1866): …and I know not where to get another ton of ore of the quality required to be remunerative" … "Having fully satisfied myself by careful and minute examination of the whole of the property as well as by various trials underground that the prospects of the mine do not warrant further outlay, I have suspended all mining operations". Of the 400 tons extracted from beneath the old workings 100 tons was rejected as inferior quality containing less than 30% Cr
20 
3. Of the remainder "carefully picked ore" 200 tons was shipped to England in November 1865 in "British Merchant" and the rest in January 1866 in the "Water Nymph; Morrison, Sclanders & Co. handled the shipping arrangements.


Whether any further ore was extracted from the Dun Mountain property is not known but it appears unlikely although Cock continued as manager. The geologist E. H. Davis wrote after a visit to Nelson in 1870 that "There is a little (chrome) left about the old workings but I was assured by the present manager to the company that there was none left underground". In 1872 the company's affairs were wound up and on 15 May 1872 the "Nelson Examiner" announced the sale by auction of "the whole of the property of the Dun Mountain Copper Mining Company" with Morrison, Sclanders & Co. the company's agents. Except for the port section, the line must have been under discussion for some time for in a letter (12/1/72) to the company, Cock asked for a decision concerning the transport of building stones before the rails were taken up.


Various reasons have been given for the demise of the Dun Mountain Company. For example, it has been argued by A. N. Palmer that the American Civil War (1861–65) with its consequent blockade of the southern confederate ports and considerable disruption of the cotton industry reduced the demand for dyes and hence Nelson chrome. Another possible reason, given by Davis, is that as the total consumption of chrome in England did not exceed 2,000 tons per year Nelson chrome because of high labour costs and distance from the English market could not compare against mines in Orkney, Norway and Baltimore. Also only a slight increase in price would make other 

European deposits economic. These reasons, whilst perhaps contributing to a decline in price do not appear to be the main reason for the company's difficulties.


All through the company's existence the price of chromite was high reaching a peak of £10.10s per ton and even in 1865 when the company ceased mining the 1865 Jurors report gives the price as £5 per ton. Also Sir James Hector gives one possible reason for the price dropping from its peak and that was the discovery and ready availability of aniline dyes which were extracted from coal tar. It appears that labour or shipping costs did not seriously disadvantage Nelson for the Cock papers show that ore was extracted and transported to Port Nelson at less than 30/- per ton stipulated by the company directors. The cost of freight to London is not known but Hector gives a figure of £3/13s per ton for ore delivered to London and in 1882 when there was a resurgence of interest in chrome, 15/- per ton were quoted by Cox. There is also an intriguing reference by Hector to chrome ore being shipped as ballast thus implying cheaper rates on ships bound for England that would in all probability be returning largly empty. The company's report to 30 June 1864, a copy of which is held in the museum, states that the company was involved in the establishment of Connah's Quay Chemical Co. Ltd. to use the company's chromite. This and the Directors instructions of 1865 to Cock to mine the ore remaining under the old (Hacket's) workings implies that the company could still dispose of chrome if of suitable quality. It is therefore difficult to avoid the conclusion that the unavailability of chrome of reasonable grade (30% or better Cr
2O
3) after the relatively easily accessible deposits on the surface of Wooded Peak were worked out was the major cause for the company winding up its New Zealand affairs.It is also probable that the high quality chrome formed relatively thin, steeply dipping layers within the serpentinite of Wooded Peak. However over a long period of time the erosion of the softer serpentinite enclosing the deposits resulted in a large accumulation or lag deposit of high quality chromite blocks on the surface. This in turn gave a false impression of the quantity and quality of the chrome underneath.
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Table 1.


Chrome ore exports from New Zealand (Mines Handbook 1887) The bulk of the ore would be from Wooded Peak but includes an unknown but probably significant quantity from elsewhere in Nelson such as the Hacket Stream and the Serpentine River. The table also excludes trial shipments sent in the late 1850s.






	

	Tons

	Value in £

	Value/tons





	1858

	3

	25

	8





	1859

	8

	120

	15





	1860

	116

	1440

	12





	1861

	52

	520

	10





	1862

	3843

	24719

	6





	1863

	595

	4318

	7





	1864

	768

	4910

	6





	1865

	–

	–

	–





	1866

	281

	1315

	5





	

	5666

	37367
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Nelson City






Nelson City


J. N. W. Newport






Nelson was constituted a city by Royal Letters Patent in 1858 when it became a Bishop's See. Administration of the town affairs continued to be handled by the Nelson Provincial Council through a Board of Works which first took office in 1856. Under this system a great deal of development work was carried out, bringing some semblance of order to the locality, by improving the streets, and providing adequate drainage to the swampy and low-lying areas.


One of the bigger undertakings in Provincial Council days was the provision of a good water supply from the Brook Stream.






Nelson City Water Works, Built 1868


With the present proposal to greatly extend the city water supply scheme it appears appropriate to record the humble beginnings of the municipal supply which was first in use well over a century ago. Alfred Saunders, who was elected as Superintendent of the Province in 1865, left the following short record.


"When the Provincial Council voted £20.000 for a water supply for the city of Nelson 1 sent Mr Blackett, Provincial Engineer, to Melbourne to see what he could learn from what had been done there. I then sent to Ransome and Simms for a complete supply of all that was necessary and we obtained a supply of excellent water for £300 less than the amount voted. The £20,000 was borrowed on debentures…"




[image: The Reservoir. – Tyree Photo. Nelson Provincial Museum.]
The Reservoir. – Tyree Photo. Nelson Provincial Museum.







John Blackett was the Provincial Engineer at the time while Henry Handiside was engaged at a salary of £250 per annum to assist with the work. In general the scheme was to build a concrete dam in the Brook stream, three miles from Nelson and at 300 feet above high water sea level, and run the water into a reservoir before being piped to the city. The reservoir was simply intended to ensure that dirty water, in time of floods, did not enter the town supply.


The Provincial Engineer reported on May 29, 1867 that two vessels had arrived bringing portions of the plant for the water works. Ransome and Simms (England) had been very prompt in executing the the order sent to them in May 1866. The first two shipments had arrived in March 1867 and he was awaiting the balance as it was not possible to lay the pipes until those shipments arrived. Work had been commenced on the dray road up Brook Street Valley to the site of the reservoir at the head of the valley. It was hoped to commence the dam shortly.


On April 13, 1868, Blackett reported that the whole of the cast iron piping had been laid from the dam to the town and that the dam had been filled with water several times. The full pressure had been laid on in the pipes. Bray and Lloyd had carried out the contract for the dam and retaining wall, the pipe bridges, and forming the road to the reservoir. John Scott was the contractor for the reservoir. The pipe laying contractor had failed to carry out the work and it was completed by day labour. The scheme was opened for use on April 16, 1867.


A. D. Dodson, in his reminscences, stated that the reservoir was shattered by earthquake soon after being built and that the water was piped direct from the dam.


The Provincial Engineer, Dodson' in his annual report, dated May 4, 1874, stated (quote) "As the mains are extended year by year the necessity for an increased supply becomes more apparent. A larger main should be laid from the dam to the reservoir as soon as possible. I propose laying a 10 inch main from the dam to the reservoir, which will cost about £1,500." (There are further comments about plans to complete the reticulation of the town, extending the mains, and similar work).


By then the first Nelson City Council had been formed and the water works became the responsibility of the new body which replaced the Board of Works under the Provincial Council.


The further developments do not come within the scope of this article as the Nelson City Council history has been well written.




[image: View of the Water Dam. Brook Street Valley. Nelson.]
View of the Water Dam. Brook Street Valley. Nelson.












Nelson City Gas Works


The suggeslion that Nelson should have gas-lighting would appear to be nearly as old as the city itself as in 1859 there was in the news reports that Dr. Tatton had his shop in town lit by coal gas. He gave lectures and advocated the advantages to be gained by his method of lighting. He was also using gas lights in his home and a news report stated that "A number of persons paid a visit to view the novel sight, and general satisfactions were expressed at the purity and brilliance of the flame. We hope to see this commencement extended to something of general utility before much lapse of time". The report pointed out the economy involved, its lower cost, and the fact that insurance companies lowered their annual rate of charges for buildings lit by gas. It was already in use in Australia and in European cities.


It would appear that Dr. Tatton and other gas enthusiasts must have done a great deal of talking before they convinced the people of Nelson that a city gas supply was warranted.


A city gasworks was eventually built and now, after more than a century of use, gas is phased out… Here is the story of its beginnings.


In 1871 John Blackett, who had been Provincial Engineer, was appointed Chief Engineer by the General Government and A. D. Dobson took over the Nelson position, also becoming Chief Surveyor when Henry Lewis resigned shortly afterwards.


The building of the Nelson City gas works was one of the biggest undertakings of the time and this became the responsibility of Dobson as engineer. To facilitate this work William Craven Mirfin, who had been a road overseer in the south-west of the Nelson Province, took charge of the Nelson project. He had already had some experience with gas works in Greymouth as revealed in his diary records. He apparently prepared the plans for the gas chimney there. Among his papers which have been preserved, there is a letter from the Greymouth Gas Company dated October 24, 1871. Written in perfect handwriting it reads:– "Sir, I beg to inform you that you have been elected a Director of this Company in place of E. Masters, Esq., resigned. The regular meeting of directors is held on Monday morning each week at 8 o'clock. I am, sir, your obedient servant. (signature indecipherable)…To W. C. Mirfin, Cobden.


No date has been found to indicate just when Mirfin moved back to Nelson but it is reasonable to assume that he undertook supervision of the work in 1872 as plans were then well underway. A letter from Langlands Foundry Company Ltd., Melbourne, dated August 22, 1872, was in connection with plans and specifications stating that the bill for the preparations of plans was £50. The specifications (now in poor order) were written in excellent handwriting, and covered:–


The iron works required in the construction of the gas works.


Building in stone and brick for gas works. (Stone to come from Adele Island).


Workshops and retort house which included a brick chimney.


Further correspondence in 1873 shows something of progress of the work. A letter from Langlands Foundry dated April 18, 1873 was a detailed account for gas meters, pipes bends, and fittings for lights, while on July 10 a Bill of Loading for the balance of the gas plant was sent. More pipes were to be shipped.





A letter dated July 22, 1873 stated that they had been sent the station meter, gas tools, and balance of plant. They also refered to a complaint about the 7 inch pipes stating that they had been unable to make sufficient quantity in the contract time and so had imported them from England. Langlands wrote on October 28 stating that they were sending the balance of the 3 inch pipes, to complete the order. This letter was addressed to Alfred Greenfield, Provincial Secretary, while other letters were addressed to A. D. Dobson. Provincial Engineer. Bright Bros and Co, Melbourne, sent various correspondence and accounts between April 1873 and January 1874 for meters and other equipment, and these accounts were passed by W. C. Mirfin, Manager. In the Nelson Evening Mail in October 1873 it was announced that the tender from Walton and Murray of Greymouth, for retort benches and chimney, for the sum of £228, had been accepted for the Nelson gas works by the Government. A further letter from Langlands that month stated that they were sending the balance of the 3 inch pipes to complete the order. It would appear that Langlands Foundry sub-let contracts for some of the plant. A news item in the Nelson Evening Mail in July 1873 stated that the first instalment of plant for the gasworks, consisting of the ironwork for the gasometer, arrived by the Taranaki from Auckland, where it had been purchased from the Thames Gas Company. Further letters from Langlands in April and May 1874 advised that 15 street taps and 191 iron socket pipes had been shipped.


Some lights must have been in use by 1874 as on March 30 George Garrett supplied a list to W. C. Mirfin, Manager, Nelson Gas and Water Works giving details of gas users with comment of either "burning" or "not burning".






	82.

	Mr John Disher, Fleece Hotel, Waimea St.

	Not burning





	83.

	Baptist Church, Bridge St.

	Burning





	84.

	Mr Birch, Storekeeper, Collingwood St.

	Burning





	85.

	New Zealand Bank, Trafalgar St.

	Not burning





	86.

	Mr John McArtney, Private house Bridge St.

	Not burning





	87.

	Mr Fred Brind, Provincial Hotel, Bridge St.

	Burning





	88.

	Police Station

	Burning





	89.

	Mr George Garrett, Hardy St.

	Burning





	90.

	E. Buxton & Co. Trafalgar St.

	Burning





	91.

	Mr Daly, Trafalgar St.

	Burning





	92.

	Mr Grimes, Trafalgar St.

	Burning





The Provincial Engineer presented a lengthy report on May 4, 1874 when he stated:- The Gas Works were sufficiently completed on the 24th November for lighting up the Government buildings during the Exhibition.


The works have been designed with a view to future extension, and all buildings have been erected in a thoroughly substantial manner. The retort house is intended to contain six benches, with three retorts to a bench; three only of these have been built as yet. The condensers, scrubber, and purifiers are sufficiently large to require no further alterations when the full number of retorts are added, and the works are planned that upon the land already fenced, together with land recently purchased from Mr Beit, three more gasholders can be erected without entrenching upon the ground required for yard purposes, stacking plant, etc. Space has been left for engine house and exhauster, which will probably be required at some future date when the consumption of gas is large.





The contract for the plant comprised eight and a half miles of mains, of these five miles have been laid up to the present date. Services have been laid to 100 buildings, including the Government Buildings, but there are only about eighty burning gas. Since the fires were first lighted about 320,00 cubic feet of gas has been manufactured".


The calculations to this report show the cost of production for given quantities and the probable profits.


"It will be seen that the consumption requires to be over 3,000,000 cubic feet per annum to pay working expenses and interest at the rate of 6%, but that with a consumption of 5,000,000 a profit of £1,000 per annum remains after paying working expenses and interest, the profits rapidly increasing with the increased consumption".


"The gas manufactured up to the present has been from Grey coal, from which an average of 8,000 cubic feet per ton has been obtained. This coal also makes an excellent sample of coke, which has found a fair sale at £3 per ton; all the tar made has also sold at 1/- per gallon. The other residues are too small a quantity to be of any commercial value at present."


"A quantity of Newcastle and Pakawau coal has also been carbonised—the former gave an average of 7,400 cubic feet to the ton, and the latter (a sample supplied by Mr Webster from a new seam) gave 8,000 cubic feet.


The total cost of the works, including plant in hand, such as mains, service meters, etc has amounted to £16,934–6–8.".


On May 13. 1874, the Provincial Secretary, in reply to a question replied:- "Mr Beit's property, Haven Road, one acre and a quarter, with double frontage, 165 feet to Haven Road, and 330 feet to another public road, together with dwelling house and brick warehouse. At the time of the selection of the site for the Gasworks, Mr Beit's property was offered for sale at £1,500. The government had the property valued by the Superintendent of Public Works, who reported it worth £1,000, which was offered to Mr Beit's agent; the offer at the time was refused, but has recently been accepted. The property was assessed by the Board of Works at £1290. The land was required for future extension for the Gasworks, and for the purposes the Government would probably have had to pay a considerable sum for depreciation of the property, Mr Beit having protested against the works, and threatened legal proceedings. The Act provides that nothing shall prevent the Superintendent from being liable to an indictment for nuisance, or any other legal proceedings to which he may be liable in consequence of making or supplying gas".


A letter dated October 8, 1875 from R. Laidlaw & Son, Glasglow, gave gasholder specifications and other details for plant which they were apparently supplying, together with numbers for assembly. They also gave the prices for cast iron lamp posts. This was addressed to W. C. Mirfin as manager of the Government Gas and Water Works. However it was too late to be of any interest to Mirfin as will be shown later.






The Nelson City Council


There was a certain amount of feeling in the town of Nelson and many citizens believed that the time had arrived to form a Nelson City Council. In October 1873 a petition praying that it should become a municipality was circulated and signed in the town and forwarded to Mr Robert Burn who, as a member of both the Provincial Council and the Board of Works, forwarded it to his Honour the Superintendent for presentation to the Governor.





The first Nelson City Council was appointed on March 30, 1874, the members simply being the members of the old Board of Works, so taking advantage of the Municipal Corporation Act passed some years earlier. The City Council took over the works which the Board of Works had created and, with them, the officials of the Board. These included W. C. Mirfin, manager of the Gas and Water Works. The Council also had to incur the liability of £50,000 in connection with the transfer of the Gasworks and Waterworks from the Government to Council. Meanwhile the City Council had no income and faced a financial crisis. Following an election in September 1874 all the council employes, except the newly appointed Town Clerk, were given notice of termination of their services. This included the manager of the gasworks but there soon was some dissatisfaction when lights failed in the evenings and one City Council meeting in April 1875 was abandoned during discussion when lights failed.
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[introduction]






Nelson was constituted a city by Royal Letters Patent in 1858 when it became a Bishop's See. Administration of the town affairs continued to be handled by the Nelson Provincial Council through a Board of Works which first took office in 1856. Under this system a great deal of development work was carried out, bringing some semblance of order to the locality, by improving the streets, and providing adequate drainage to the swampy and low-lying areas.


One of the bigger undertakings in Provincial Council days was the provision of a good water supply from the Brook Stream.










Victoria University of Wellington Library




Journal of the Nelson and Marlborough Historical Societies, Volume 1, Issue 3, November 1983

Nelson City Water Works, Built 1868




Nelson City Water Works, Built 1868


With the present proposal to greatly extend the city water supply scheme it appears appropriate to record the humble beginnings of the municipal supply which was first in use well over a century ago. Alfred Saunders, who was elected as Superintendent of the Province in 1865, left the following short record.


"When the Provincial Council voted £20.000 for a water supply for the city of Nelson 1 sent Mr Blackett, Provincial Engineer, to Melbourne to see what he could learn from what had been done there. I then sent to Ransome and Simms for a complete supply of all that was necessary and we obtained a supply of excellent water for £300 less than the amount voted. The £20,000 was borrowed on debentures…"




[image: The Reservoir. – Tyree Photo. Nelson Provincial Museum.]
The Reservoir. – Tyree Photo. Nelson Provincial Museum.







John Blackett was the Provincial Engineer at the time while Henry Handiside was engaged at a salary of £250 per annum to assist with the work. In general the scheme was to build a concrete dam in the Brook stream, three miles from Nelson and at 300 feet above high water sea level, and run the water into a reservoir before being piped to the city. The reservoir was simply intended to ensure that dirty water, in time of floods, did not enter the town supply.


The Provincial Engineer reported on May 29, 1867 that two vessels had arrived bringing portions of the plant for the water works. Ransome and Simms (England) had been very prompt in executing the the order sent to them in May 1866. The first two shipments had arrived in March 1867 and he was awaiting the balance as it was not possible to lay the pipes until those shipments arrived. Work had been commenced on the dray road up Brook Street Valley to the site of the reservoir at the head of the valley. It was hoped to commence the dam shortly.


On April 13, 1868, Blackett reported that the whole of the cast iron piping had been laid from the dam to the town and that the dam had been filled with water several times. The full pressure had been laid on in the pipes. Bray and Lloyd had carried out the contract for the dam and retaining wall, the pipe bridges, and forming the road to the reservoir. John Scott was the contractor for the reservoir. The pipe laying contractor had failed to carry out the work and it was completed by day labour. The scheme was opened for use on April 16, 1867.


A. D. Dodson, in his reminscences, stated that the reservoir was shattered by earthquake soon after being built and that the water was piped direct from the dam.


The Provincial Engineer, Dodson' in his annual report, dated May 4, 1874, stated (quote) "As the mains are extended year by year the necessity for an increased supply becomes more apparent. A larger main should be laid from the dam to the reservoir as soon as possible. I propose laying a 10 inch main from the dam to the reservoir, which will cost about £1,500." (There are further comments about plans to complete the reticulation of the town, extending the mains, and similar work).


By then the first Nelson City Council had been formed and the water works became the responsibility of the new body which replaced the Board of Works under the Provincial Council.


The further developments do not come within the scope of this article as the Nelson City Council history has been well written.
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View of the Water Dam. Brook Street Valley. Nelson.
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Nelson City Gas Works


The suggeslion that Nelson should have gas-lighting would appear to be nearly as old as the city itself as in 1859 there was in the news reports that Dr. Tatton had his shop in town lit by coal gas. He gave lectures and advocated the advantages to be gained by his method of lighting. He was also using gas lights in his home and a news report stated that "A number of persons paid a visit to view the novel sight, and general satisfactions were expressed at the purity and brilliance of the flame. We hope to see this commencement extended to something of general utility before much lapse of time". The report pointed out the economy involved, its lower cost, and the fact that insurance companies lowered their annual rate of charges for buildings lit by gas. It was already in use in Australia and in European cities.


It would appear that Dr. Tatton and other gas enthusiasts must have done a great deal of talking before they convinced the people of Nelson that a city gas supply was warranted.


A city gasworks was eventually built and now, after more than a century of use, gas is phased out… Here is the story of its beginnings.


In 1871 John Blackett, who had been Provincial Engineer, was appointed Chief Engineer by the General Government and A. D. Dobson took over the Nelson position, also becoming Chief Surveyor when Henry Lewis resigned shortly afterwards.


The building of the Nelson City gas works was one of the biggest undertakings of the time and this became the responsibility of Dobson as engineer. To facilitate this work William Craven Mirfin, who had been a road overseer in the south-west of the Nelson Province, took charge of the Nelson project. He had already had some experience with gas works in Greymouth as revealed in his diary records. He apparently prepared the plans for the gas chimney there. Among his papers which have been preserved, there is a letter from the Greymouth Gas Company dated October 24, 1871. Written in perfect handwriting it reads:– "Sir, I beg to inform you that you have been elected a Director of this Company in place of E. Masters, Esq., resigned. The regular meeting of directors is held on Monday morning each week at 8 o'clock. I am, sir, your obedient servant. (signature indecipherable)…To W. C. Mirfin, Cobden.


No date has been found to indicate just when Mirfin moved back to Nelson but it is reasonable to assume that he undertook supervision of the work in 1872 as plans were then well underway. A letter from Langlands Foundry Company Ltd., Melbourne, dated August 22, 1872, was in connection with plans and specifications stating that the bill for the preparations of plans was £50. The specifications (now in poor order) were written in excellent handwriting, and covered:–


The iron works required in the construction of the gas works.


Building in stone and brick for gas works. (Stone to come from Adele Island).


Workshops and retort house which included a brick chimney.


Further correspondence in 1873 shows something of progress of the work. A letter from Langlands Foundry dated April 18, 1873 was a detailed account for gas meters, pipes bends, and fittings for lights, while on July 10 a Bill of Loading for the balance of the gas plant was sent. More pipes were to be shipped.





A letter dated July 22, 1873 stated that they had been sent the station meter, gas tools, and balance of plant. They also refered to a complaint about the 7 inch pipes stating that they had been unable to make sufficient quantity in the contract time and so had imported them from England. Langlands wrote on October 28 stating that they were sending the balance of the 3 inch pipes, to complete the order. This letter was addressed to Alfred Greenfield, Provincial Secretary, while other letters were addressed to A. D. Dobson. Provincial Engineer. Bright Bros and Co, Melbourne, sent various correspondence and accounts between April 1873 and January 1874 for meters and other equipment, and these accounts were passed by W. C. Mirfin, Manager. In the Nelson Evening Mail in October 1873 it was announced that the tender from Walton and Murray of Greymouth, for retort benches and chimney, for the sum of £228, had been accepted for the Nelson gas works by the Government. A further letter from Langlands that month stated that they were sending the balance of the 3 inch pipes to complete the order. It would appear that Langlands Foundry sub-let contracts for some of the plant. A news item in the Nelson Evening Mail in July 1873 stated that the first instalment of plant for the gasworks, consisting of the ironwork for the gasometer, arrived by the Taranaki from Auckland, where it had been purchased from the Thames Gas Company. Further letters from Langlands in April and May 1874 advised that 15 street taps and 191 iron socket pipes had been shipped.


Some lights must have been in use by 1874 as on March 30 George Garrett supplied a list to W. C. Mirfin, Manager, Nelson Gas and Water Works giving details of gas users with comment of either "burning" or "not burning".






	82.

	Mr John Disher, Fleece Hotel, Waimea St.

	Not burning





	83.

	Baptist Church, Bridge St.

	Burning





	84.

	Mr Birch, Storekeeper, Collingwood St.

	Burning





	85.

	New Zealand Bank, Trafalgar St.

	Not burning





	86.

	Mr John McArtney, Private house Bridge St.

	Not burning





	87.

	Mr Fred Brind, Provincial Hotel, Bridge St.

	Burning





	88.

	Police Station

	Burning





	89.

	Mr George Garrett, Hardy St.

	Burning





	90.

	E. Buxton & Co. Trafalgar St.

	Burning





	91.

	Mr Daly, Trafalgar St.

	Burning





	92.

	Mr Grimes, Trafalgar St.

	Burning





The Provincial Engineer presented a lengthy report on May 4, 1874 when he stated:- The Gas Works were sufficiently completed on the 24th November for lighting up the Government buildings during the Exhibition.


The works have been designed with a view to future extension, and all buildings have been erected in a thoroughly substantial manner. The retort house is intended to contain six benches, with three retorts to a bench; three only of these have been built as yet. The condensers, scrubber, and purifiers are sufficiently large to require no further alterations when the full number of retorts are added, and the works are planned that upon the land already fenced, together with land recently purchased from Mr Beit, three more gasholders can be erected without entrenching upon the ground required for yard purposes, stacking plant, etc. Space has been left for engine house and exhauster, which will probably be required at some future date when the consumption of gas is large.





The contract for the plant comprised eight and a half miles of mains, of these five miles have been laid up to the present date. Services have been laid to 100 buildings, including the Government Buildings, but there are only about eighty burning gas. Since the fires were first lighted about 320,00 cubic feet of gas has been manufactured".


The calculations to this report show the cost of production for given quantities and the probable profits.


"It will be seen that the consumption requires to be over 3,000,000 cubic feet per annum to pay working expenses and interest at the rate of 6%, but that with a consumption of 5,000,000 a profit of £1,000 per annum remains after paying working expenses and interest, the profits rapidly increasing with the increased consumption".


"The gas manufactured up to the present has been from Grey coal, from which an average of 8,000 cubic feet per ton has been obtained. This coal also makes an excellent sample of coke, which has found a fair sale at £3 per ton; all the tar made has also sold at 1/- per gallon. The other residues are too small a quantity to be of any commercial value at present."


"A quantity of Newcastle and Pakawau coal has also been carbonised—the former gave an average of 7,400 cubic feet to the ton, and the latter (a sample supplied by Mr Webster from a new seam) gave 8,000 cubic feet.


The total cost of the works, including plant in hand, such as mains, service meters, etc has amounted to £16,934–6–8.".


On May 13. 1874, the Provincial Secretary, in reply to a question replied:- "Mr Beit's property, Haven Road, one acre and a quarter, with double frontage, 165 feet to Haven Road, and 330 feet to another public road, together with dwelling house and brick warehouse. At the time of the selection of the site for the Gasworks, Mr Beit's property was offered for sale at £1,500. The government had the property valued by the Superintendent of Public Works, who reported it worth £1,000, which was offered to Mr Beit's agent; the offer at the time was refused, but has recently been accepted. The property was assessed by the Board of Works at £1290. The land was required for future extension for the Gasworks, and for the purposes the Government would probably have had to pay a considerable sum for depreciation of the property, Mr Beit having protested against the works, and threatened legal proceedings. The Act provides that nothing shall prevent the Superintendent from being liable to an indictment for nuisance, or any other legal proceedings to which he may be liable in consequence of making or supplying gas".


A letter dated October 8, 1875 from R. Laidlaw & Son, Glasglow, gave gasholder specifications and other details for plant which they were apparently supplying, together with numbers for assembly. They also gave the prices for cast iron lamp posts. This was addressed to W. C. Mirfin as manager of the Government Gas and Water Works. However it was too late to be of any interest to Mirfin as will be shown later.
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The Nelson City Council


There was a certain amount of feeling in the town of Nelson and many citizens believed that the time had arrived to form a Nelson City Council. In October 1873 a petition praying that it should become a municipality was circulated and signed in the town and forwarded to Mr Robert Burn who, as a member of both the Provincial Council and the Board of Works, forwarded it to his Honour the Superintendent for presentation to the Governor.





The first Nelson City Council was appointed on March 30, 1874, the members simply being the members of the old Board of Works, so taking advantage of the Municipal Corporation Act passed some years earlier. The City Council took over the works which the Board of Works had created and, with them, the officials of the Board. These included W. C. Mirfin, manager of the Gas and Water Works. The Council also had to incur the liability of £50,000 in connection with the transfer of the Gasworks and Waterworks from the Government to Council. Meanwhile the City Council had no income and faced a financial crisis. Following an election in September 1874 all the council employes, except the newly appointed Town Clerk, were given notice of termination of their services. This included the manager of the gasworks but there soon was some dissatisfaction when lights failed in the evenings and one City Council meeting in April 1875 was abandoned during discussion when lights failed.
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Memories of Life on the Coastal Scows


H. J. Williams.



Working and living in Scows and the way things were done aboard them during World War I and the following ten years.



(Mr Williams writes about the scows as they were when he first knew them in the early 1920's. He started his sea-going career in the mid 1920's about the time that most of them had an engine or engines fitted. The engines were low powered but the scows started to fade away as the masts were cut down. The old scow hands faded with them. Its doubtful if there would be a dozen men alive who were in the scows before engines were put in them and not many people would remember these craft with three or four headsails and gaff topsails making a beautiful sight as they came up the bay in a fresh breeze with everything set and a bone in their teeth.)


Sailing a scow was an art of its own which could only be learned by experience and some I know never did learn it properly. There were more tricks than a magician had up his sleeve. Some scows had to have a reef in the mizzen when running before the wind wing and wing otherwise they would broach to. Some have taken a mast out by jibing. On a board lead some would round up and almost come about– against the helm. Close hauled most of them sailed quite nicely with some a lot faster than others. Most had to be watched closely at all times but some in light weather would hold a course with the wheel on a bucket, so making an easy watch for the helmsman. In some of them when there was no wind the lifeboat was put over the side and used to row and tow the scow. If lucky a couple of miles was made during a watch. The lifeboat was usually about fourteen feet long, clinker built, with two pair of oars and rowlocks. There was food and signal gear, tanks, and a five gallon water barrel. Mostly these boats were fairly easy to row. The lifeboat on most scows was slung on davits across the transom and could be dangerous in a big following sea. I saw one scow in Auckland that got caught and the boat was smashed through between the davits and came down on the wheel and nearly caught the helmsman. The boat was a complete wreck.


Some scows were never fitted with wheelhouses and the man at the wheel was out in all weathers while steering. The compass was fitted inside the cabin above the Skipper's bunk and had glass at top and bottom so that he could see the course at any time without getting out of his bunk. There was a porthole in the aft side of the cabin so the helmsman could see the course while still at his place at the wheel. For night work there was a small oil lamp fitted to shine on the compass. This had to be filled and trimmed every four hours by the man going off watch duty. On some scows the light was only a piece of candle and this also was replaced every watch.


The rudder was a massive affair about six feet square and always seemed out of proportion for the size of the vessel. It was built with a hoisting gear to lift it above the heel of the vessel while working in shallow water and this also dropped the lower edge about a foot below the keel while at sea. In dirty weather the wheel had more kick than a mad beast when a big sea hit the rudder. I once saw a man of about fifteen stone thrown right over the wheel and into the lee scuppers, but luckily without injury. After a four hour watch in bad weather the helmsman knew he had been working. Since then the scows have been fitted with motors and a purchase gear fitted to the rudder making steering much easier but it did mean more turns of the wheel to get the rudder hard over.





Cargo of all sorts was carried on scows and some of the worst loads were the big blocks of marble that were shipped from the Bays to Wellington for the construction of Parliamant Buildings. Some of the blocks weighed 25 tons. On deck, scows carried perishable cargoes such as cement or other bagged goods, or fruit, a grating floor was first laid and then a canvas cover put down and the cargo stowed on it. After finishing loading the sides and ends of the cover were folded up as far as they would reach and then more covers were put around and over so that the cargo was completely folded in canvas. Only very rarely did cargo get wet. Coal cargoes were never covered but shifting boards were put across the deck at both forward and after end of the centre case and the coal loaded in an open topped box and, unless exceptionally heavy weather was encountered, none was lost. Limestone was another cargo never covered and, when loaded, the stone was wheeled aboard in barrows up a ten inch plank. It was discharged with the ship's cargo gear but every piece was picked up by hand and put in an iron bucket to be hoisted ashore. It was really hard work loading some cargoes. One place where we went to load potatoes they were brought to the ship in drays. We had to carry the chaff sacks full of potatoes on our backs and place them on the ship where they were to be stowed. Three of us loaded 25 tons of potatoes in four hours. When winches were installed on scows they were usually powered with a four or five horsepower engine and cargo work then was a dream. We would load apples at seventeen cases to a tray and then only have to pick them up and put them in the required position. Timber was a cargo that was hard on the hands as every plank of it was picked up and put into place to make sure of getting the maximum on board in the space for it. One method used for power for the discharge of cargoes was a 'burton purchase' which I saw used once when a winch engine had broken down. This was operated by a horse which was harnessed with collar, hames, and trace chains and swingle tree and hooked to a wire for the purchase. The horse was taken forward to hoist the sling of cargo and backed up when it was landed and the hook let down for the next sling. One scow I saw had a small donkey boiler and steam winch fitted. It worked very efficiently.


Most of the crews in the scows were hard workers and hard drinkers but were always on the job when required and at most times did their jobs properly at the right time. At most of the small Bay ports the crew loaded the cargo and at the bigger ports helped with loading and discharging.


Some of the scows capsized quite a few times in their lifetime and some drowned their crews. Often this was caused by the lifting of the weather bilge out of water in a stiff breeze. When the wind got under the bottom of the ship she "lost her grip and fell over".


Before the mid 1920's each crew man had to carry his own mattress, blankets, plate, mug, knife and fork. Most knives were sheath knives and sometimes if the knife had not been cleaned properly one could taste the job it last had been used for. The plate and mug were enamel. There were no sheets or pillow slips. The pillow was a twenty five pound flour bag filled with straw and the mattress a calico bag also filled with straw. Usually it cost sixpence for the straw and it would last three or four months but it was the dampness that ruined most mattresses and pillows. The mattress was appropriately called a donkey's breakfast. The wages in the 1920's was one pound per month for seamen so I do not think that crews were over paid. The Skipper received six pounds per month. There were no springs to bunks as the whole thing was built of one inch timber planking with two by two inch cross members.





The only ventilation to the cabin was through the entrance scuttle which in dirty or wet weather was closed. The lighting was one or two kerosene lamps and when the weather was bad one would wake up full of fumes from the lamps. There was no table for meals and in bad weather each sat on his respective bunk with his plate of food on his knee in the cabin and in good weather we would mostly have our meals on deck wherever we could find a good spot.


There was no galley (kitchen) and no cooking range ever fitted to some of the scows. Cooking was done on a five gallon oil drum placed on a concrete slab or a flat stone with a cast iron pot to fit it. Meat and vegetables were all cooked together. The meat was mainly corned beef but at times some fish were caught and they made a change of diet. In bad weather the whole arrangement was taken into the cabin, usually three steps down, and the place would be filled with smoke and fumes. There was never a sweet course and there was only one hot meal a day. The other two meals consisted of bread and butter with sometimes a slice of cold meat while in the fruit season there was fresh fruit (if the scow went into port to load fruit).


The water supply was a one hundred gallon tank in some, while in others wooden casks were used. As these were on deck it was a case of picking the right moment to get water or you might finish up with it half salt from the slop that climbed aboard.


A lot of skippers in the scows only had Servitude tickets which they had gained through serving on vessels in an area for a certain number of years but it was of no use in certain areas. Others had extended river limit tickets which also covered certain areas. Some skippers had twenty ton coasting tickets which meant that a man with one of these could take a vessel of that gross tonnage anywhere around the coast. They were all done away with round about the time of the second world war.


There was no toilet in the early scows and even in the last of them it was only a bucket under the seat and after use this was emptied over the side and then half-filled with sea water again to be ready for the next person. In the olden times it was a case of sitting on the rail and getting a really good grip in case she slopped a good sea over or dipped a bit deeper than usual. If either happened one was literally caught with his pants down.


Most of the scows and other small trading vessels were fore and aft rigged but some of the bigger ones were topsail schooners and crossed one or two yards on the foremasts. They looked beautiful under full sail. Some scows had nice lines with a nice lift to the sheer strake fore and aft and also to the bulwark capping rail. Others were very ugly and sometimes made one wonder what had gone wrong with the builder to make one like it. Some were very fast, some were slow, some wet in a seaway, and some hardly shipped water unless it was really dirty. All worked hard and they made the crew work hard but they were the makings of a lot of good seamen ashore and afloat.


It brings back a few memories and a few sad moments when I think of the men who have long since done their last trick at the wheel of the overloaded and undermanned flat-bottomed crates.


God bless them wherever they be sailing now and for evermore.
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The Early Sheep Runs of Marlborough (Continued)


Runs in the Lower Wairau by Ralph T. Denton






Meadowbank Run No. 13 (1854)


The history of some of the runs in the Lower Wairau are difficult to record for various reasons. The very early records are fragmentary, different writers have given vague facts which sometimes conflict with one another and sometimes even official descriptions conflict in their detail of boundaries etc. For instance the eastern boundary of Meadowbank Run of 1854, which is the earliest description we can find is: By the left bank of the Taylor River, southward by the crest of the hills dividing the Wairau from the Kaiparatehau (Awatere). Whereas the description of the western boundry of the next Run to the east (Taylor River Run No. 14) says, by the Taylor River from the surveyed land to where it turns at a right angle to the eastward, from that point the boundary follows the eastern base of a long ridge in which the west branch of the Taylor takes its rise, up to the extreme western source of the main stream of the "Taylor".


On the sketch map of the Wairau Runs of 1849 the name of G. Duppa is shown, but on a sketch map of 1850 John and William Oldham are shown as occupiers. They still held this licence for this run in 1854 and transferred it in 1856 to William and Henry Eyes and Charles Empson. The western boundary of this run was the Fairhall River.


Eyes and Empson were bits of wolves in purchasing land out of their neighbours runs. About 1861 or 1862 they bought several sections out of C. B. Wither's "Taylor River Run" (between the Taylor River and the Branch River, called at this time the west Taylor River, from their juncture and Vinegar Point westward, thus effectively cutting off their neighbour's access to further land west which C. B. Wither had to buy up quickly. A stalemate position arose with neither side giving way until, in 1866, Eyes and Empson found themselves in financial difficulties due to falling wool prices and sold their interest in Meadowbank Run to Dr. Ralph Richardson, M.D. M.A. C. B. Wither then sold the cut off land to Richardson the following year.


Before this Dr. Richardson had returned to live in England and his agent in N.Z. leased the run to Arthur Penrose Seymour until 1882 when the Doctor's youngest son, George Billingsley Richardson became manager.


It is difficult to follow the history of the surveyed sections (Budge's Survey) between Meadowbank Run and New Renwick Road, but at various periods some of them were owned by Eyes and Empson, some by Henry Seymour of Kent and some were probably leased to whoever was farming Meadowbank, as one map shows the run with access through to New Renwick Road. From 1870 onwards H. Seymour sold off some of the sections to various buyers.


In 1898 G. B. Richardson leased the greater part of Meadowbank to George Turner Seymour for fifteen years. In 1903 a small part of the run was leased to Philip Verco for the extraction of lime, but this only lasted a short time.


In 1907 G. B. Richardson conveyed Meadowbank Run, which was then of 18,827 acres to Mrs Amy Bell, wife of Robert John Bell, along with a flock of seven thousand merino sheep for £9,900. Mrs Bell signed a sale of purchase agreement with Edwards Francis Joseph Grigg of 'Akaunui', Eiffelton, Canterbury for the sale of 'Meadowbank' along with a flock of 7,000 merino sheep for £48,850; this commenced a long association of the Grigg family with this land, though today it is farmed by two cousins who are grandsons of E. F. J. Grigg under two or more separate titles.







[image: Map of the Lower Wairau Runs c. 1854]









Bankhouse Run No. 9 (Run 15, 1849).


This is one of the larger runs of easy country in the Wairau and lay in the fork of the Wairau and Waihopai Rivers. Originally the western boundry on the Wairau side was the Marchburn Stream to its source thence by a gully opposite that source known as Boundary Creek and down that gully to the Waihopai River above the present Waihopai Hydro Dam. Its area was nearly 27,000 acres.


In March 1848 Dr David Monro, with the aid of five men and with two horses to carry baggage, drove his flock of 1,000 sheep from the Nelson area via Tophouse and down the Wairau to the above run.


Dr. (later Sir) David Monro (1813–1877) was born in Edinburgh, son of Dr. Alexander Monro, Professor of Anatomy at the University of Edinburgh where David obtained his degree of M.D. He bought land scrip in England in the New Zealand Company's settlement in 1841 and sailed for Australia to visit his brother Harry who had a sheep station in Victoria. In early January 1842 he left by the schooner Ariel a coastal trader calling at several places between Auckland and Nelson, where he arrived in March 1842. He built a timber cottage on his town acre section facing Trafalgar Square. In 1843 he was allocated his 50 acres at Waimea West. This was increased to nearly 200 acres over the next few years and named "Bearcroft". In 1845 he married Dinah Secker (1818–1882) at the little church of St. Michael, Waimea West.


Section 1 of XII was crown granted to him in 1852 and other sections were purchased over the next twenty years without much trouble from outsiders trying to freefold sections out of the run.


Towards the end of 1868 or early 1869 Alexander Binning Monro of Valleyfield took over the management of Bankhouse for a time. It is reported that an illicit still was discovered in the manuka scrub and finally the ex-manager was charged and convicted. Such stills were not uncommon at the time.


About 1870 Monro's eldest son, Alexander (1846–1905) took over the management of Bankhouse which he inherited on the death of his father in 1877. Alexander died in 1905 and the run was carried on by trustees and executors namely his widow, Frances Caroline nee Severn and Richard Corbett of Leefield, station manager. The widow as executrix was to manage the realty and to receive £400 a year; the residue to go towards education and maintenance of the children. The Bankhouse property was then to go to the two eldest sons as tenants in common and the rest of the estate to the other children with a clause to equalise the amounts. Despite this, in 1915, Bankhouse was cut into three parcels of land; the homestead block went to Herbert Yelverton Monro, the Marchburn block to Philip Charles Monro and owing to the early death of Henry Alexander Monro in 1916, the Craiglochart block was transfered to his widow, Edith Sylvia Monro.


The Bankhouse run which included the Homestead was of nearly 11,000 acres, but with various sales and exchanges is now of about 10,000 acres and is one of the highest valued single properties in the district, H. J. Monro married Maude Clouston and had one son and two daughters. During his time the merino flock of sheep was upgraded with the establishment of a Merino Stud No. 62 and was well thought of during the 1920's and 30's, but was discontinued in recent times. In 1947 his son, Alexander started taking over the management of Bankhouse.


The Marchburn area of 8081 acres was taken over by Philip Charles Monro in 1915 and in 1930 was transfered to Lewis Henry Clouston for a few 

months before being transfered to Alexander Monro, son of H. Y. Monro. For the next 30 years it was run in conjunction with Bankhouse before being transferred to John Henry Barrington Shield whose wife was a daughter of H. Y. Monro. A few years later it was turned into a farming company.


The Craiglochart area of Bankhouse, 7605 acres, was transferred by trustrees to Edith Sylvia Monro, widow of Henry Alexander Monro, at the beginning of 1917. The following year she married Thorston Frederick Kelling of Blenheim, Solicitor. In April, 1923 Craiglockhart was transferred from Mrs E. S. Kelling to Cuthbert Oliver Tate Rutherford of Hawarden, Canterbury. In 1947 the Crown took over Craiglockhart for the re-settlement of three returned servicemen who took up their respective farms in 1950. They were Henry Lumsden Tancred, Louis Arthur Laugesen on the Homestead area and Arnold Arthur Marfell.






Langley Dale Run No. 10 (1854).


This run was applied for by William Adams about 1853 and lay on the north side of the Wairau River, stretched along the river bank for 10 or 11 miles, from opposite the confluence of the Wairau and Waihopai Rivers to about the mouth of Bartletts Creek. It was said to be about 15,000 acres in extent. Most of the land was covered in heavy bush fern and scrub, while the long narrow flat near the river was largely swamp occupied by numerous wild cattle and pigs. It was named after his wife whose maiden name was Langley.


William and Martha Adams had been living at Redwood, a sheep run in the Avon Valley since 1852 and were able to build a two storey house at Langley Dale before leasing their Redwood Run to Charles Elliot in 1857 and moving to Langley Dale in September of that year.


When Marlborough became a separate province in 1859 William Adams became the first Superintendent. The capital was Picton at the time and he moved there leaving the men to run Langley Dale. After a few years he and Martha moved to Nelson where he resumed legal practice, the firm being known as Adams and Kingdon. In 1869 their third son, William, left college and came to Langley Dale to learn the running of the station and later to take over the management.


William and Martha returned to live at Langley Dale in 1872 and he died there in 1884 and was buried on the "rock" near the homestead, Martha was buried beside him when she died in 1906.


Meanwhile, William the younger was doing a very good job improving Langley Dale, clearing and developing the run, draining swamps and planting trees. By 1903 the run was carrying 7,000 sheep and 400 cattle, while a water wheel drove an electric generator and a flax mill. Until 1912 all goods to and from the station had to be carted over the Wairau ford. In 1899 a portable steam engine with thresher and chaffcutter was purchased and used until about 1925. By then the original ash had gone off the hills and when William died his son, Archibald Miles William Adams, who inherited most of Langley Dale, had to re-sow the hills with more suitable grasses. He had a difficult time keeping the run going as he also spent a lot of time on local body and community affairs.


Langley Dale was later divided into three blocks for his sons: Alistair Hamilton William Adams took over the block known as Rock Ferry, Douglas Murray William was at Langley Dale and Rae Dundas William the block to the west known as Coatbridge.









Delta Run No. 11.


Edward Green took up this run about 1848– originally No. 12 of 1849. The area of waste land in this de-pasturage licence was not great, but a considerable area of light strong land had been surveyed under Budge's direction for closer settlement but had not been applied for, or in many cases applied for by absentee owners still living in England. This allowed Green to graze sheep on a much larger area than his run.


About 1854 Dr. Thomas Renwick M.D. of Nelson became interested in buying land in this area and bought section 163, Omaka District, of 150 acres from Edward Green who had completed the purchase of it from the Crown a few months earlier. Over the next two years Renwick purchased from the Crown over 3,000 acres; much of it out of the Delta Run and must have come to some agreement with Green for the lease of the remainder of the run, though the official transfer of the run did not take place until the end of 1864. As other sections in the area became available Renwick managed to purchase a good many of them. In 1863 he purchased from the Hon. Frances Dorothy Dillon 300 acres upon which the main homestead for the run was subsequently built.


At the southern end of the run Dr. David Monro purchased from the Crown 500 acres and also about 10 surveyed sections (Budge's Survey) on behalf of his brother-in-law Alexander Binning Monro of "Auchinbowie", Scotland, Section 149 and Risk Farm of 250 acres. The later had a checkered history of ownership before finally becoming part of the Delta Run in 1929. To sort out all the historical ramifications of the ownership of many of the sections which went to the making up of the Delta Run would be greater than this article warrants. Risk Farm mentioned above is interesting because it was so long in coming under Delta ownership though it was surrounded on three sides by Delta land and across the road on the fourth side and could be described as an enclave.


Dr. Thomas Renwick died in 1879 and his second wife, Anne as administator retained the run until 1899 when the trustees sold to William Pollard who had been manager of Delta for some years. After Pollard's death the run was sold to Elsie Howard Watts, wife of George Fowell Watts of Lansdown, in 1929. Members of the Watts family held the Delta until after the second World War when the land to the north of Highway 63 was acquired by the Crown for the settlement of Returned Servicemen. During the war the Defence Department had used a considerably larger area for the establishment of military and airforce training camps. After the war other areas were sold, the largest of these to W. C. Patterson, Moonee Valley.


In 1966 the Murray family of Spring Creek took over the homestead block of 1291 acres, calling it Murray Downs. Nigel Watts retained another block fronting on to Highway 63 of 1061 acres for a few years before selling it about 1972, this he called The Delta.


I have not mentioned the establishment of the town of Renwick, originally called Renwicktown, by Dr. Thomas Renwick as it is another story.






Michael Mayer's Run No. 12 (1854)


This run does not appear to have had a specific name and lay along the north of the Wairau River from the Waikaka Bush in the east to opposite the junction of the Waihopai and Wairau Rivers in the west. The northern 

boundry was a line one mile from the Wairau River and it was originally between 3,600 and 4,000 acres.


Michael Mayer

1 Senior was of Irish stock, born in County Tipperary about 1794. About 1818 he married Nancy Lamphier, a descendant of Hugoenot refugees who fled from France in the 17th century. They lived in London for a few years before emigrating with their three children to Nelson, New Zealand. Michael Mayer, junior, born 1829, joined the survey party to the Wairau about 1848 and then went back to Spring Grove where his parents were living and persuaded them to come to the Wairau and take up a sheep and cattle run, which they did in 1852. In 1853 the eldest son, John, born 1819 was drowned in the Wairau River.


At first the Mayers lived in a quickly erected abode in the shelter of "Whare Hill" as it is known locally. Later they built a cob and timber house of one and one half stories on the homestead block which Michael the younger purchased in 1855. This block was section No. 7 of block 1 District of Kaituna, and is north of the present road known as the Tua Marina Track.


In 1863, from the corner of this section, Michael Maher conveyed five acres to James Davìs and Arthur Kìnsey, who erected the Kaituna Accommodation House. As money became available Michael Mayer, the younger purchased further sections out of the run, until after his death in 1874 he owned about 1,500 acres of land mainly to the north and west of the homestead.


Michael Mayer Jun. (1829–1874) had married Elizabeth Holt

2 of Waimea South in the early fifties and their eldest son, John (1859–1940) took over the day to day management of the property with his mother until the youngest member of the family reached twenty one years of age. John married twice, his first wife, Jessie Anderson (?–1892) had three children, two daughters and a son. His second wife Kate O'Brian (1865–1959), two sons. Descendants of the latter union farm quite an area of this land at the present time (1983). Land out of the run further to the east of the Homestead was purchased by outsiders, notably John Gibson, a very progressive farmer who also established a flour mill and a flax mill driven by water power from the Ari Ari stream. Because so many people were employed by Gibson, his several sons and other settelers (Weavers, Story, etc.) a small village sprung up known as Gibson Town.







1 error reported - should read Maher





2 error reported - should read Hoult
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Meadowbank Run No. 13 (1854)


The history of some of the runs in the Lower Wairau are difficult to record for various reasons. The very early records are fragmentary, different writers have given vague facts which sometimes conflict with one another and sometimes even official descriptions conflict in their detail of boundaries etc. For instance the eastern boundary of Meadowbank Run of 1854, which is the earliest description we can find is: By the left bank of the Taylor River, southward by the crest of the hills dividing the Wairau from the Kaiparatehau (Awatere). Whereas the description of the western boundry of the next Run to the east (Taylor River Run No. 14) says, by the Taylor River from the surveyed land to where it turns at a right angle to the eastward, from that point the boundary follows the eastern base of a long ridge in which the west branch of the Taylor takes its rise, up to the extreme western source of the main stream of the "Taylor".


On the sketch map of the Wairau Runs of 1849 the name of G. Duppa is shown, but on a sketch map of 1850 John and William Oldham are shown as occupiers. They still held this licence for this run in 1854 and transferred it in 1856 to William and Henry Eyes and Charles Empson. The western boundary of this run was the Fairhall River.


Eyes and Empson were bits of wolves in purchasing land out of their neighbours runs. About 1861 or 1862 they bought several sections out of C. B. Wither's "Taylor River Run" (between the Taylor River and the Branch River, called at this time the west Taylor River, from their juncture and Vinegar Point westward, thus effectively cutting off their neighbour's access to further land west which C. B. Wither had to buy up quickly. A stalemate position arose with neither side giving way until, in 1866, Eyes and Empson found themselves in financial difficulties due to falling wool prices and sold their interest in Meadowbank Run to Dr. Ralph Richardson, M.D. M.A. C. B. Wither then sold the cut off land to Richardson the following year.


Before this Dr. Richardson had returned to live in England and his agent in N.Z. leased the run to Arthur Penrose Seymour until 1882 when the Doctor's youngest son, George Billingsley Richardson became manager.


It is difficult to follow the history of the surveyed sections (Budge's Survey) between Meadowbank Run and New Renwick Road, but at various periods some of them were owned by Eyes and Empson, some by Henry Seymour of Kent and some were probably leased to whoever was farming Meadowbank, as one map shows the run with access through to New Renwick Road. From 1870 onwards H. Seymour sold off some of the sections to various buyers.


In 1898 G. B. Richardson leased the greater part of Meadowbank to George Turner Seymour for fifteen years. In 1903 a small part of the run was leased to Philip Verco for the extraction of lime, but this only lasted a short time.


In 1907 G. B. Richardson conveyed Meadowbank Run, which was then of 18,827 acres to Mrs Amy Bell, wife of Robert John Bell, along with a flock of seven thousand merino sheep for £9,900. Mrs Bell signed a sale of purchase agreement with Edwards Francis Joseph Grigg of 'Akaunui', Eiffelton, Canterbury for the sale of 'Meadowbank' along with a flock of 7,000 merino sheep for £48,850; this commenced a long association of the Grigg family with this land, though today it is farmed by two cousins who are grandsons of E. F. J. Grigg under two or more separate titles.







[image: Map of the Lower Wairau Runs c. 1854]
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Bankhouse Run No. 9 (Run 15, 1849).


This is one of the larger runs of easy country in the Wairau and lay in the fork of the Wairau and Waihopai Rivers. Originally the western boundry on the Wairau side was the Marchburn Stream to its source thence by a gully opposite that source known as Boundary Creek and down that gully to the Waihopai River above the present Waihopai Hydro Dam. Its area was nearly 27,000 acres.


In March 1848 Dr David Monro, with the aid of five men and with two horses to carry baggage, drove his flock of 1,000 sheep from the Nelson area via Tophouse and down the Wairau to the above run.


Dr. (later Sir) David Monro (1813–1877) was born in Edinburgh, son of Dr. Alexander Monro, Professor of Anatomy at the University of Edinburgh where David obtained his degree of M.D. He bought land scrip in England in the New Zealand Company's settlement in 1841 and sailed for Australia to visit his brother Harry who had a sheep station in Victoria. In early January 1842 he left by the schooner Ariel a coastal trader calling at several places between Auckland and Nelson, where he arrived in March 1842. He built a timber cottage on his town acre section facing Trafalgar Square. In 1843 he was allocated his 50 acres at Waimea West. This was increased to nearly 200 acres over the next few years and named "Bearcroft". In 1845 he married Dinah Secker (1818–1882) at the little church of St. Michael, Waimea West.


Section 1 of XII was crown granted to him in 1852 and other sections were purchased over the next twenty years without much trouble from outsiders trying to freefold sections out of the run.


Towards the end of 1868 or early 1869 Alexander Binning Monro of Valleyfield took over the management of Bankhouse for a time. It is reported that an illicit still was discovered in the manuka scrub and finally the ex-manager was charged and convicted. Such stills were not uncommon at the time.


About 1870 Monro's eldest son, Alexander (1846–1905) took over the management of Bankhouse which he inherited on the death of his father in 1877. Alexander died in 1905 and the run was carried on by trustees and executors namely his widow, Frances Caroline nee Severn and Richard Corbett of Leefield, station manager. The widow as executrix was to manage the realty and to receive £400 a year; the residue to go towards education and maintenance of the children. The Bankhouse property was then to go to the two eldest sons as tenants in common and the rest of the estate to the other children with a clause to equalise the amounts. Despite this, in 1915, Bankhouse was cut into three parcels of land; the homestead block went to Herbert Yelverton Monro, the Marchburn block to Philip Charles Monro and owing to the early death of Henry Alexander Monro in 1916, the Craiglochart block was transfered to his widow, Edith Sylvia Monro.


The Bankhouse run which included the Homestead was of nearly 11,000 acres, but with various sales and exchanges is now of about 10,000 acres and is one of the highest valued single properties in the district, H. J. Monro married Maude Clouston and had one son and two daughters. During his time the merino flock of sheep was upgraded with the establishment of a Merino Stud No. 62 and was well thought of during the 1920's and 30's, but was discontinued in recent times. In 1947 his son, Alexander started taking over the management of Bankhouse.


The Marchburn area of 8081 acres was taken over by Philip Charles Monro in 1915 and in 1930 was transfered to Lewis Henry Clouston for a few 

months before being transfered to Alexander Monro, son of H. Y. Monro. For the next 30 years it was run in conjunction with Bankhouse before being transferred to John Henry Barrington Shield whose wife was a daughter of H. Y. Monro. A few years later it was turned into a farming company.


The Craiglochart area of Bankhouse, 7605 acres, was transferred by trustrees to Edith Sylvia Monro, widow of Henry Alexander Monro, at the beginning of 1917. The following year she married Thorston Frederick Kelling of Blenheim, Solicitor. In April, 1923 Craiglockhart was transferred from Mrs E. S. Kelling to Cuthbert Oliver Tate Rutherford of Hawarden, Canterbury. In 1947 the Crown took over Craiglockhart for the re-settlement of three returned servicemen who took up their respective farms in 1950. They were Henry Lumsden Tancred, Louis Arthur Laugesen on the Homestead area and Arnold Arthur Marfell.
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Langley Dale Run No. 10 (1854).


This run was applied for by William Adams about 1853 and lay on the north side of the Wairau River, stretched along the river bank for 10 or 11 miles, from opposite the confluence of the Wairau and Waihopai Rivers to about the mouth of Bartletts Creek. It was said to be about 15,000 acres in extent. Most of the land was covered in heavy bush fern and scrub, while the long narrow flat near the river was largely swamp occupied by numerous wild cattle and pigs. It was named after his wife whose maiden name was Langley.


William and Martha Adams had been living at Redwood, a sheep run in the Avon Valley since 1852 and were able to build a two storey house at Langley Dale before leasing their Redwood Run to Charles Elliot in 1857 and moving to Langley Dale in September of that year.


When Marlborough became a separate province in 1859 William Adams became the first Superintendent. The capital was Picton at the time and he moved there leaving the men to run Langley Dale. After a few years he and Martha moved to Nelson where he resumed legal practice, the firm being known as Adams and Kingdon. In 1869 their third son, William, left college and came to Langley Dale to learn the running of the station and later to take over the management.


William and Martha returned to live at Langley Dale in 1872 and he died there in 1884 and was buried on the "rock" near the homestead, Martha was buried beside him when she died in 1906.


Meanwhile, William the younger was doing a very good job improving Langley Dale, clearing and developing the run, draining swamps and planting trees. By 1903 the run was carrying 7,000 sheep and 400 cattle, while a water wheel drove an electric generator and a flax mill. Until 1912 all goods to and from the station had to be carted over the Wairau ford. In 1899 a portable steam engine with thresher and chaffcutter was purchased and used until about 1925. By then the original ash had gone off the hills and when William died his son, Archibald Miles William Adams, who inherited most of Langley Dale, had to re-sow the hills with more suitable grasses. He had a difficult time keeping the run going as he also spent a lot of time on local body and community affairs.


Langley Dale was later divided into three blocks for his sons: Alistair Hamilton William Adams took over the block known as Rock Ferry, Douglas Murray William was at Langley Dale and Rae Dundas William the block to the west known as Coatbridge.
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Delta Run No. 11.


Edward Green took up this run about 1848– originally No. 12 of 1849. The area of waste land in this de-pasturage licence was not great, but a considerable area of light strong land had been surveyed under Budge's direction for closer settlement but had not been applied for, or in many cases applied for by absentee owners still living in England. This allowed Green to graze sheep on a much larger area than his run.


About 1854 Dr. Thomas Renwick M.D. of Nelson became interested in buying land in this area and bought section 163, Omaka District, of 150 acres from Edward Green who had completed the purchase of it from the Crown a few months earlier. Over the next two years Renwick purchased from the Crown over 3,000 acres; much of it out of the Delta Run and must have come to some agreement with Green for the lease of the remainder of the run, though the official transfer of the run did not take place until the end of 1864. As other sections in the area became available Renwick managed to purchase a good many of them. In 1863 he purchased from the Hon. Frances Dorothy Dillon 300 acres upon which the main homestead for the run was subsequently built.


At the southern end of the run Dr. David Monro purchased from the Crown 500 acres and also about 10 surveyed sections (Budge's Survey) on behalf of his brother-in-law Alexander Binning Monro of "Auchinbowie", Scotland, Section 149 and Risk Farm of 250 acres. The later had a checkered history of ownership before finally becoming part of the Delta Run in 1929. To sort out all the historical ramifications of the ownership of many of the sections which went to the making up of the Delta Run would be greater than this article warrants. Risk Farm mentioned above is interesting because it was so long in coming under Delta ownership though it was surrounded on three sides by Delta land and across the road on the fourth side and could be described as an enclave.


Dr. Thomas Renwick died in 1879 and his second wife, Anne as administator retained the run until 1899 when the trustees sold to William Pollard who had been manager of Delta for some years. After Pollard's death the run was sold to Elsie Howard Watts, wife of George Fowell Watts of Lansdown, in 1929. Members of the Watts family held the Delta until after the second World War when the land to the north of Highway 63 was acquired by the Crown for the settlement of Returned Servicemen. During the war the Defence Department had used a considerably larger area for the establishment of military and airforce training camps. After the war other areas were sold, the largest of these to W. C. Patterson, Moonee Valley.


In 1966 the Murray family of Spring Creek took over the homestead block of 1291 acres, calling it Murray Downs. Nigel Watts retained another block fronting on to Highway 63 of 1061 acres for a few years before selling it about 1972, this he called The Delta.


I have not mentioned the establishment of the town of Renwick, originally called Renwicktown, by Dr. Thomas Renwick as it is another story.
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Michael Mayer's Run No. 12 (1854)


This run does not appear to have had a specific name and lay along the north of the Wairau River from the Waikaka Bush in the east to opposite the junction of the Waihopai and Wairau Rivers in the west. The northern 

boundry was a line one mile from the Wairau River and it was originally between 3,600 and 4,000 acres.


Michael Mayer

1 Senior was of Irish stock, born in County Tipperary about 1794. About 1818 he married Nancy Lamphier, a descendant of Hugoenot refugees who fled from France in the 17th century. They lived in London for a few years before emigrating with their three children to Nelson, New Zealand. Michael Mayer, junior, born 1829, joined the survey party to the Wairau about 1848 and then went back to Spring Grove where his parents were living and persuaded them to come to the Wairau and take up a sheep and cattle run, which they did in 1852. In 1853 the eldest son, John, born 1819 was drowned in the Wairau River.


At first the Mayers lived in a quickly erected abode in the shelter of "Whare Hill" as it is known locally. Later they built a cob and timber house of one and one half stories on the homestead block which Michael the younger purchased in 1855. This block was section No. 7 of block 1 District of Kaituna, and is north of the present road known as the Tua Marina Track.


In 1863, from the corner of this section, Michael Maher conveyed five acres to James Davìs and Arthur Kìnsey, who erected the Kaituna Accommodation House. As money became available Michael Mayer, the younger purchased further sections out of the run, until after his death in 1874 he owned about 1,500 acres of land mainly to the north and west of the homestead.


Michael Mayer Jun. (1829–1874) had married Elizabeth Holt

2 of Waimea South in the early fifties and their eldest son, John (1859–1940) took over the day to day management of the property with his mother until the youngest member of the family reached twenty one years of age. John married twice, his first wife, Jessie Anderson (?–1892) had three children, two daughters and a son. His second wife Kate O'Brian (1865–1959), two sons. Descendants of the latter union farm quite an area of this land at the present time (1983). Land out of the run further to the east of the Homestead was purchased by outsiders, notably John Gibson, a very progressive farmer who also established a flour mill and a flax mill driven by water power from the Ari Ari stream. Because so many people were employed by Gibson, his several sons and other settelers (Weavers, Story, etc.) a small village sprung up known as Gibson Town.
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Renwick Militia


By the late Herbert Watson.


As the late Herbert Watson of Renwick grew old he became well known to many thousands of visitors who had the good fortune to be escorted by him through the little museum which still stands next to his home in the main street of his beloved town. Herbie, as he was almost always known, fortunately wrote down many stories of his youth and the wonderful and sometimes difficult times which he experienced as he grew up in the early years of this century. This is just one of those stories, written in the shaky hand of the then old man in 1977.


Walter Samuel Watson was a young man who had joined the mad rush for the Onamalutu goldfield on the north bank of the Wairau River. Like so many others, he arrived too late and found all the easy gold had been panned from the creek and its side stream. Forced to look for other work, he was lucky enough to be offered an apprenticeship with Mr McAllister who had established a wheelwright and blacksmith shop opposite McAuly's Woolpack Inn in lower High Street, Renwicktown.


As a powerful young man, Walter joined the Renwick Militia to train to be a soldier to defend the country from a savage enemy, the Maori, who had taken up arms against the Pakeha in the North Island. Every Saturday, members of the Militia met at the Woolpack Inn dressed in full uniform, complete with bandoliers, mauser rifles, blue trousers with a red stripe down the sides and highly polished boots. Topping all this they wore magnificent helmets with a white metal spike on top.


After assembly the company would form into a column and led by a drummer boy they would march in grand style to the butts built behind the Lake Timara homestead, in those days named Goulter's Hills. At the time the deep gully was filled with manuka and cabbage trees with the rifle range in a cleared area on the western side. It was made with huge boulders set in hard clay. Behind this mound was a deep trench where the soldiers marking the targets, could work in safety.


In later years our fathers favourite walk each fine Sunday was to the butts where we children dug up huge lead bullets which we melted down to make sinkers for our fishing lines. Some of these bullets are to be seen in the local museum, also a mauser rifle of the type which fired them.


Mr Sutton at Lake Timara tried to locate the butts in recent times but with no success. Instead of the mound of large stones and mud, the eroding agents have levelled the surface. The only evidence will be the buried bullets and stone now covered by a forest of trees and dead timber.


The memories of militia days came to life for us when as school boys we dramatised the battles of the Boer War. "Daddy" Watson, as my patriarch was known, kindly loaned his uniform to us if we acted like soldiers and not like stupid monkeys. Naturally we took every care of it because a tall boy dressed in that red coat and helmet with a bright silver spear on top, gold figure 11 on the front and blue trousers with red bands on either side, really looked the part. The boy who wore the uniform acted as Lord Kitchener or Lord Roberts who was related to John Boyce our carrying contractor and led the school boy procession which pretended to celebrate a victory in South Africa. The rest of us were dressed as Queen Victoria's soldiers with slouch hats while others as her sailors, had round straw hats. Our guns were wooden ones made by the original user of the uniform. That precious uniform really made our parade of Her Majesty's junior army and navy.


A crippled boy in our gang who got around with the aid of a four wheeled 

cart drawn by a large long whiskered billy goat, headed the column balancing the Union Jack. Her Majesty's glorious flag was greatly honoured and in recent years this treasure was discovered by the late Ray Fraser, a retired grocer, who came back to his home town to finish a life of many happy memories. It was a thrill to see such an honoured flag become a relic in possession of our little museum beside a photo of our noble Queen Victoria. To us she was the greatest of all monarchs, one who built up the greatest Empire the world has ever seen.


As the make believe Lord Roberts, Kitchener or other famous leaders led the young army and navy along Renwick's High Street, two members, one in navy uniform and the other in soldiers uniform armed with a cash tin, collected small coins for the bonfire and fireworks display in Uxbridge Street.


Our tin can band, tin whistle and gazoo in syncopated time and our efforts dragged the people out to their front gates to see their patriotic sons on parade. The station hands who came from outlying stations were the most liberal givers. They put in those large silver half crowns. The money was turned into double bangers, packet crackers, rockets, fire wheels, etc.


After the excitement connected with the procession, we assembled at the Uxbridge gravel pit and picked up forces of Boers on one side, British on the other and used ammunition of soft clay, the size of very large marbles we dramatised the battles being fought by our fathers and uncles in South Africa. To prevent serious injuries, the clay ammunition was inspected to make sure the clay was soft enough to spread and mark our clothing. There was to be no aìmìng at an enemy's face. A clay stain on the body was a dìrect hit and constituted a casualty who either sat down or lay prostrate. A bugle call to those on eìther side ended the battle and casualties were counted. Over the victor's or the defeated army's fort there appeared a British or a white flag and there was a proper clean up and a new combination of members were drawn or arranged and a renewed battle took place.


In the evenings, materials for the bonfire were gathered up at dusk. The whole village assembled at the bonfire site to enjoy the fun which practically every person in the community took an interest.


In the Hall of Memories in Havelock Street, there is an early photograph of the blacksmith shop and staff, also of Walter Watson's wheelwright shop and smithy and two roomed cottage. He and his brother Charles had pit sawn the timber for all the buildings at the Kaituria swamp and transported the lot across the Wairau and Opawa rivers in a three team bullock dray. A replica of the dray and team are shown pieces at the Renwick museum frontage.
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Some Early Journeys to the Wairau (Continued)


Edited by Margaret C. Brown.



In the last Journal some extracts from diaries of overland travellers to the Wairau were given. Lack of space forced us to hold over the accounts of two sea voyages. Before roads were made or rivers bridged the usual mode of travel was by sea or river boat– it is rather a shock to realise that even to go from Nelson to Richmond a journey by boat up the Waimea estuary was often considered preferable to the road one. It will be remembered that Cotterell returned from the Awatere by whale boat, and glad he was to do so. By boat was the only practicable way to transport goods; but sea voyages were not always enjoyable and could be hazardous. The Adams family journeyed from Nelson to the Redwood Run on the Avon River in the Wairau (Martha Adams had refused to remain in Nelson while her husband lived at the ranch). The year was 1852 and they travelled with their goods and two small sons by sea to the Wairau River and up the river to what is now Blenheim. Martha or Patty as she was usually called was a good horsewoman and would have preferred to ride through the Tophouse Pass. In her diary she has left a lively account of their experiences on the sea voyage.











February 1852 Saturday (20th) The children and I go on board (the schooner Mary) by 1 o'clock, and the vessel went out beyond the bar with the tide; the Captain and William remained until evening to finish their business, then they came on board and we sailed with the night tide and breeze. (It was not long before they were all seasick and the next day passed in misery). About night the skipper said we would soon be at our destination, when the wind changed and blew hard, so that our little vessel was driven back, and we were obliged to take shelter in Port Underwood, a little cove between two hills. Here we anchored and by daybreak Monday got on shore. This was an old whaling station and the strand was scattered thick with bleached whalebones: huge things too large to move. As the boat grated on the sand we saw a hut a short way off, where the sailors assured us we would be hospitably entertained and cleanly fed. How glad we poor sick things were to tread on land, though so weak we could hardly walk over the bones to the cottage close to a wood, out of which we saw a herd of many coloured goats peering and scampering about. A Maori woman in a green and scarlet print dress, made in the fashion of a nightgown, with a nice clean baby, sat on the door sill, and, after a word or two with Mr Taylor the captain, bustled herself about, and, with a great show of pleasure commenced preparing a very early breakfast. A stout boy milked the goats: a little girl neatly dressed after the Englìsh fashion amused baby on the clean boarded floor, whìle her mother lay a white tablecloth, basins, plates, knives and forks: Damper (or bread baked without any barm) a huge jug of delicious goat milk, butter from the same source and tea proved to us the most grateful repast!


When over, as the wind was contrary, it was arranged to bring out a leg of mutton on shore, some flour and some apples, and to have a dinner in "Betty's" cottage. Her husband has a small vessel of his own and was gone to trade in Sydney. To while away the morning as we were too weak to walk much, our hostess spread out for us a great heap of "Illustrated News". Fancy, Oh! English reading, fancy this in a Maori hut!…


I compounded the apple dumplings while Betty watched, and she dressed the rest of the dinner most excellently, adding to what we provided a piece of bacon from the scores of pieces pendant from the thatched roof. Her potatoes she scraped with a shell and baked beneath the meat, and apologised for peas, saying that her first crop was over and the second one not ready. Though she understood nearly all we said, she could not say much to us save through Mr taylor, the captain, as interpreter…





Teatime came and yet no chance of a fair wind, so we spread our mattresses on the floor and slept soundly till one of the sailors in the early dawn, rattled at the cottage door and informed us the vessel was getting under way. He also brought a couple of fowls from my poultry coop on deck as a present for Betty, together with a large plain plum cake and some loaves of baker's bread, all of which were luxuries unobtainable here, and more acceptable to our Maori hostess than money: for which she had no use as her husband made more than sufficient to pay for her grocery and wearing apparel, by his ship: and everything else she had at home.


(From there they continued on then up the Wairau River till they were met by their friend with a wagon for the goods and the boys and a horse for Patty to ride, The men walked by the wagon and after spending a night in a mud hut on the way they reached their primitive home on the Avon (a tributary of the Waihopai).




–From MS, Adams, Martha, Journal, 1850–52, Alexander Turnbull Library.






















Another sea voyage is described in an extract from John A.


Moore's Diary. This was in 1872 not so long before the Wangamoa Route was opened.





Extracts from the Diary of John A. Moore, sent to us by Anne King.


6th. Jan 1872. Went on board the Lyttelton (Captain Scott, master) and left Nelson at quarter to seven p.m. A good many people to see us off. Ran into a boat but got off alright. Had tea. Got stuck in French Pass about 1 o'clock this morning for a while, otherwise had a pleasant passage to Picton and arrived at 7 a.m. Passengers on the Lyttelton were Mr & Mrs Watts, Charlie and Alice Williams, Mrs Moffitt, young Hounsell, Hammond Landon and Bill Adams, 2 other women and 3 boys. Also on board were a lot of rams belonging to old Taylor Green.


Sunday, 7th. Jan. Writing on board at 7 a.m. Yesterday Philip McRae, Mr and Mrs David Scott left on horseback for Blairich. Dr Renwick was married to Annie Smith and old Sigley, the lamplighter to Mrs Akersten's mother. Noon. Can see the trees where we have to cross the bar. They say we shall be in Blenheim by 3 p.m.. We touched but got over the bar at 1 p.m.. There is a boulder bank at entrance just like Nelson. We saw Shags, Hawks, Seagulls, Paradise Duck, Grey Ducks, Bittern, Divers, young Duck, Hawks, Larks, Sandpipers, and Pokekas when going up the river (Wairau). Got to Junction at 4 p.m. (junction of Opawa and Wairau Rivers). I went to Ewart's Hotel where I am to stay until the cart comes down from Blairich, Philip McRae's place, where I am going at £40 per year and found, to help on his sheep run.


Monday 8th. Jan. 1872. After breakfast got my green box from Lyttelton which is still at the junction on the bank near where she is trying to come up with ropes etc. (but no go as yet, 4 p.m.). The Osprey, C. Redwood's tug is now taking the flax dressed at the wharf. Went to the Court House today (Dr Muller sitting) and heard case of Joe Redwood and a boy about wages. Joe had to pay him £8. The boy left before his time. They speak a lot of the high rivers they have here. They have a fire bell not quite as high as the one in Nelson. Dodson and Fell Store has a frontage to a large bridge. There is soon to be a railway started from Blenheim to Picton and there is talk of the Governor coming over in a fortnight's time to turn the first sod. After tea saw the Blenheim Volunteer Fire Brigade at practice opposite the Government 

Buildings. (Their only uniform was) Caps with red braid and the letters B.V.F.B. on them. Not a very strong stream of water which they got from a well in the middle of the road. The Lyttelton finally got up to the wharf. She goes shipping wool to Port Underwood.


Tuesday 9th. Jan. P. McRae arrived. I bought water-tight boots at Dodsons & Fells for 22/- and helped Harry load the wagon.


Wed. 10th. Jan. About quarter to eight for Blairich. Tom Jones (cook) and Harry the driver. Had a good load but 5 horses. Rough road up the saddle and over the River crossing. Called at Templetons– 4 miles from Blairich– for mail. Got to Blairich which is situated on the Awatere River, about 8 p.m.




(from extracts from the diary of John A. Moore).
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Tophouse Hotel


By J. E. Tomlinson


The first Tophouse was built by Mr Morse and N. Cooper. In 1851 an hotel was built about one mile nearer Nelson, on a level terrace that overlooks the Wairau flats. This was a more convenient situation for travellers wishing to go south to Canterbury or to follow the Wairau to Marlborough. This building was of cob and thatched roof. It served the public for over thirty years. There was quite a bit of land cultivated around it– perhaps about twenty acres. There was an orchard and garden with a lot of gooseberry and currant bushes, several alderberry trees and two or three ornamental trees. The hotel was run by a man named Weisenhavern who is believed to have had an interest in the sheep run after Morse and Cooper and before W. Fowler took over. Although he was a rough old chap he kept a fairly good hotel. Eventually he sold to Nat Longley who owned it when it was burned down. As children we and others from the present Tophouse went over there to pick fruit and play around the old chimney which stood for perhaps twenty years.


The third Tophouse and second hotel opened for business in August 1889 and was built by Ned James and Snowball Smith under instructions from the owner, Nat Longley. (The telegraph station was already there). The hotel, of cob, had seven bedrooms, front room, dining room, kitchen with scullery and back verandah; a washhouse with bath and bakehouse was unattached and an outside lavatory. It was intended to build the walls two feet higher but due to weather and other circumstances this was not done. It had an iron roof and cob chimney with colonial oven which was used for years. Longley sold it about a year after the murder and suicide there to Arthur Franklyn (in 1896) who did not get on too well. My father, Arthur Tomlinson bought it in June 1898 but could not get down from Tarndale because of snow until August. A station cook, named Alf Grant looked after it for him. My father and mother and we three children arrived there after a trip by horseback and packhorses and made it our home for twenty years. We went to school in the home, a school teacher being employed. I had a brother and sister born there, two sisters were married there and my father died there in 1910. My mother carried on until 1919 when she sold to Mr and Mrs Jim Christie, he was a returned soldier. They sold to Mr and Mrs Jesse Baxter in 1921. About 1940 they sold to Ray and Ruth Clark who kept it until it was closed in 1960.


When my father purchased Tophouse there was 150 acres freehold, about half of which was in bush. Over the years this was chopped and about 20 acres were stumped and ploughed for oats. A 20 acre paddock was purchased. (It was a stock paddock which John Kerr had used when he owned Tarndale and drove stock up and down). My father also drew a section of 700 acres on the top side of the road, most of which was chopped and grassed. When we sold out the Hotel had a farm carrying 700 sheep, mostly ewes, about 30 cattle, several work horses for express and riding horses. A new stable and sheds had been built over the road (the old stables were below the new ones). The fir tree now growing at Tophouse gateway was planted by my school teacher aunt, Miss Annie Banks, in 1902. She brought it from her people's plantation in Pine Terrace, Loburn, North Canterbury.
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The Tophouse Telegraph and Post Office


by J. E. Tomlinson.


The Tophouse Telegraph Station was built about 1876– a two roomed cottage with verandah and lean-to office, kitchen and store room with out-buildings, garden and a good orchard on a ten acre section. Two more bedrooms were added about 1903 by the late Charles Chamberlain. The telegraph line ran from Nelson via Wai-iti Valley, Golden Downs and Kikiwa to Tophouse; then one line down the Wairau to Blenheim and another from Tophouse down the Buller to the West Coast. A permanent linesman was stationed at Tophouse, his chief duty being to repair any faults that occurred on the lines. His section ranged to Hope Junction, Belgrove and Birch hill. Morse was mainly used to send and receive messages and a good deal of switching over the different lines was necessary. The Post Office was opened about 1890 although there was no regular mail service until about 1908.


Mr and Mrs William White were the first officers and stayed a few years, then there was Mr Boers followed by the unlucky Mr and Mrs Wallis. Mr Wallis was killed in the Tophouse Tragedy. I think Mr Boers came back for a while and in 1898 Arnold Hodgen, a batchelor was stationed there. He married a Mrs Hurst from Australia who was staying with my mother at Tophouse and the wedding was held in the Tophouse Hotel. Mr and Mrs Peter McLaughlon were next, one of their boys, Bill, drove for Newmans for several years. He was followed by Mr and Mrs George Aldridge who had a family of eight, mostly girls and one small boy, Jack. They went to school with us at Tophouse Hotel. The eldest girl, Violet, was a smart telegraphist and served in the Nelson Office for some years. They stayed at Tophouse for several years and eventually went to Longford and Murchison.


George Aldridge used to take me on his inspections of lines every three months. On one occasion I rode rode the lines for three months and his daughter looked after the office while he had an eye operation. Snow was the chief trouble, the weight stretched the wire and they became tangled. Occasionally poles came down due to slips or rocks. Mr and Mrs Frank Rush followed Aldridges and were there for many years; then Charles Gates came, he married the Tophouse school teacher after about two years. The Rush family came back and stayed there until the Post Office was transferred to St Arnaud, Lake Rotoiti (I think about 1940). The old post office buildings are still there but are privately owned.


In the early days the telephone was not used much but in later years it was all telephone work. I understand the contract for clearing the way for lines was held by Jonathan Brough and his man. At least some of the line building was done by a man, Bob Salmond, who also relieved for the postmaster. The lines are now maintained by linesmen who travel from the townships by motor vehicles.
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The Role of the Department of Lands & Survey in Preserving Historic Sites


D. A. L. Hoskyn – Senior Ranger


The Department of Lands and Survey is responsible to the Minister of Lands for the administration of the Reserves Act 1977. The provisions of the Act have effect for the purpose of preserving and managing, for the benefit and enjoyment of the public, areas of New Zealand that possess natural, scenic, historic, cultural, archaeological, geological, scientific, educational, or other special features or value, or indigenous flora and fauna, or wildlife, or that have recreational use or potential.


Not all sites of national historic interest are included in historic reserves; they are also found in other types of reserves and in lands owned by the New Zealand Historic Places Trust. The trust is charged under the Historic Places Act 1954 with the duty to: acquire, preserve, and manage historic places "of national or local interest"; make them accessible to the public and assist local bodies, voluntary societies, and private individuals to do likewise; compile records, erect plaques and notices; and promote archaeological research and ensure the safe custody of Maori artifacts and chattels of historic interest. The Trust also administers a number of historic reserves under the provisions of the Reserves Act.


In terms of the Reserves Act 1977, historic reserves are to have the effect …of protecting and preserving in perpetuity such places, objects and natural features, and such things thereon or therein contained as are of historic, archaeological, cultural, educational, and other special interest…(which) … illustrate with integrity the history of New Zealand. (Section 18[1], [2] [a].)


Historic reserves are thus seen as a cultural rather that a natural resource. Places of natural events in recorded history (e.g. the Tarawera eruption) or geological time (e.g. evidence of past shorelines) are more suited to classification such as scenic, recreational, or scientific, although they may have some historic interest.


Historic reserves lend themselves to varying degrees of interpretation. The appropriate technique will depend on a variety of factors, for example: How important was the person, event, or place? What is their physical condition? Are the earthworks sufficiently stabilised to withstand the passage of large numbers of visitors? Does the site lend itself to interpretation? Are original artifacts available to furnish or illustrate it? How accessible is it? Is enough known about the site to interpret it satisfactorily?


The function of interpretation is to create understanding by explaining a site to a visitor. Whether a visual or oral technique of interpretation is used, its purpose is to make the visitor's experience more meaningful and rewarding. The objective in these techniques should be to reduce the spoken or written word to the minimum so that visible features can speak for themselves.


There are many historic sites in the Nelson Land District, a number of which are marked with the New Zealand Historic Places Trust markers. Much of our history is linked with the discovery of gold in the province. The Aorere goldfield was the first commercial field in the South Island. Gold was discovered there in 1856. While little evidence remains of the town sites on these goldfields there is much to see in the way of water races, tunnels, piles of boulders and dams in the area. A large quartz crushing battery was 

abandoned in Wakefield Gully. One wonders how this unwieldy 20 head battery and its associated steam boiler were ever transported to this inaccessible site.


The Department has re-opened some of the old tracks on this goldfield and published a self guided walk pamphlet which guides the walker through some of the more interesting sites.


Lyell is another interesting goldmining area. Gold was discovered here in 1863 and the largest nugget found in New Zealand was picked up in the Lyell Creek. This weighed 108 ounces. The Town of Lyell was established following the influx of eager gold seekers. In the 1890s when the town was in its heyday it had a population of over 2,000 and had as many as 5 hotels, 2 banks, 2 churches and a post office. It also had its own newspaper, a police station, courthouse, brewery and a school which had a roll of 86 pupils.


Today it is hard to imagine that this remote site in the Upper Buller Gorge was a bustling town larger than Murchison at that time. The town site is now a Historic Reserve and the Department has erected some interpretative panels depicting the early history together with old photographs and plans.


A walkway has been established up to the old town cemetery and on to one of the goldmines, "The Croesus", which is located about 20 minutes walk up the Lyall Creek. It also has its quartz crushing battery still standing at the entrance to the mine.




[image: Town of Lyell, 1890's. — Tyree Photo.]
Town of Lyell, 1890's. — Tyree Photo.







The town site situated as it is, adjacent to State Highway 6, has proved to be a popular stopping place and is used for overnight camping during the summer. A water supply has been laid on using the water from the town's spring and toilets provided.


Another Historic Reserve connected with the gold era is sited at Blacks Point near Reefton where an enthusiastic group of people have set up a museum and working exhibits of gold mining equipment, notably a quartz crushing battery powered with water drawn from the original dam on Murray Creek. Other equipment powered from the pelton wheel includes a dynamo which generates the electricity for the lighting. Reefton was the first town in New Zealand to generate electricity using hydro electric generation.


A retort house has also been established utilising equipment from the local bank.


The Department is establishing an Historic Reserve covering the old coal mining town of Denniston and the historic incline. Here again, interpretation of the history of the area is to be the main feature on the site. With the establishment of "Coaltown" in Wesport visitors having had their curiosity whetted have wanted to visit the site of this early coal mining town and view the remains of the incline which was the largest engineering project undertaken at that time in New Zealand.


Charleston, which was one of the largest gold towns in New Zealand with a population of over 12,00 is at present being researched and it is planned to establish a Recreation Reserve over the Constant Bay foreshore area and the area immediate to the south. The reserve is being developed and tracks formed. An interpretative display is also planned featuring the history of Charleston and a pamphlet is to be printed.


The protection, development and interpretation of these historic sites are an important part of the work of the Department of Lands & Survey. In co-operation with the Historic Places Trust the Department is continuing to identify land which may possess historic culture or archaeological features to reserve for the protection of our cultural heritage for the benefit of future generations.
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A Publication Covering the Legislation of Early Nelson


J. F.H. Savage


Anyone interested in examining the problems which beset our early settlers in wrestling with the legal and administrative processes which they encountered will be interested in examining a book bound in half calf with marbled paper-covered boards with a most impressive title page printed in red Gothic script alternating with black Roman capitals. The full title leaves the reader in no doubt concerning the contents; viz "The Ordinances of New Munster, A.D. 1849, and the Province of Nelson, Passed in the first eleven Sessions of the Provincial Council, A.D. 1853, to A.D. 1863, to which are added, extracts of Imperial Act and Charter and Instructions, etc., constituting and defining Province of New Munster, and the Imperial Acts Relating to the Constitution of New Zealand. Published by authority. Nelson Printed by R. Lucas, Bridge Street, MDCCCLX1V".


The catalogue number in Bagnall's National Biblography Volume 1, Part 2 is 3761. The publication of this volume had been preceded in 1850 by a publication of the Ordinances of New Zealand from 1841 to 1849 compiled in June 1850 by Alfred Domett who was then Colonial Secretary (Bagnall 4118). In his preface to the volume John Sharp who was Chief Clerk to the Resident Magistrate sets out an explanation of the mode adopted in the preparation of the publication. Firstly extracted portions of the Imperial Act of Parliament and of the Charter and Instructions of 1846 relating to the province of New Munster and given together with the proclamation of the Governor-in-Chief defining the boundaries of New Munster. Next follows the acts formed by Legislative Council of New Munster. The New Zealand Constitution Act passed by the Imperial Parliament, under the provisions of which the several provinces of New Zealand (Nelson being one) were established come next in order. Finally, the Acts passed by the Provincial Council in Sessions I to XI during the first ten years of the establishment of the Province are set out.


In the Proclamation dividing the colony into the provinces of New Ulster and New Munster under the Charter of 1846, Governor Grey defined the boundaries of New Munster as all that section of the North Island which lies south of a line commencing at the centre of the mouth of the Patea River and running thence due east until it reaches the East Coast (just south of Cape Kidnappers) together with all the South Island.


Having been legally constituted, the New Munster legislators set to work and in their first session (1849) they enacted eleven ordinances covering such diverse topics as the naturalization of two Germans and one Italian, the definition of the qualifications of medical practitioners, the prevention of the extension of scab in sheep, the summary ejectment of persons occupying land or premises without right, title or licence, an appropriation ordinance and a most comprehensive constabulary force ordinance, e.g.,


"20. Be it inacted that if




the driver of any wagon, wain, cart, dray, or other carrage shall ride thereupon (not having some person on foot to guide the same) such as are drawn by horses and properly driven with reins only except, or shall wilfully remain at such a distance from his carriage whilst passing through the street, as not to have the command of his horse, horses or cattle, or meeting any such carriage on the left or near side of the road, 

or on passing shall not keep on the right or off side of the road, or shall in any manner wilfully prevent any other person from passing him, or by negligence or misbehaviour, interrupt the free passage of any person, or carriage along the said road, he shall be liable to a fine of not more that fifty nor less than ten shillings."




With the passing of the New Zealand Constitution Act 1852, the provinces of Auckland, New Plymouth, Wellington, Nelson, Canterbury and Otago were established and each province was to have a Superintendent and a Provincial Council of at least nine members. In the case of Nelson, the Superintendent appointed was Edward William Stafford (1819–1901) and under his guidance, the first Nelson Provincial Council passed their first Appropriation Ordinance to cover the year 1 October 1854 to 30 September 1854 for a total sum of £10.953-14-11. It is interesting to see that included in this total is an amount of £180-0-0 for the Nelson School Society.


The next Appropriation Ordinance for the next fifteen months to 31 December 1855 had risen to a total of £32,933-6-7 and included are some interesting items such as "House accommodation, Wairau– nine months at £40 per annum– £30; Expenses of M. Adderley in investigating New Zealand Company's debt– £200; Gaol – £50; Postal service to Wairau– £200; Postal Service to Motueka via Waimea South and West– £133-6-8. The largest items are: Roads, bridges, ferries etc.– £8,000 and Immigration– £8,000.


The Appropriation Acts provide an enlightening insight into the growth of the social needs and development of the outlying areas of the Province. For instance, for the year ending 31 December 1857 the Library, Nelson Literary Institution was granted £50 while libraries in country districts received £170 and £200 was provided for the establishment of reading rooms. The maintenance of law and order in the outlying areas was not overlooked for £100 each was provided for lock-ups at Wairau and Aorere with £180 for the constable's house at Wairau but only £100 for a similar house at Aorere. £200 was provided for the cutting of a bridle track from Riwaka to Takaka.


The following year (1858) saw public works in the Wairau area featured as follows:-


Improving the Coast Road to Amuri– £50


Ferry over Wairau River–£400


Omaka Brigde, near the Beaver– £50


Trunk lines, Wairau– £100


Trunk lines, Awatere– £50


Road through Wairau Gorge to Amuri– £500 The Appropriation Act for the year ended 31 March 1863 is most interesting for it contains an item which could well have been the first official move towards the construction of the Nelson railway.


Survey of proposed line for Railway to Waimea– £150.


Judge Broad in his Jubilee History of Nelson records that various proposals regarding railways were mooted as early as 1860. He recalls that Charles Elliott who was from the first an enthusiastic supporter of a railway to the Coast stated at a public meeting in 1863 that his proposals to the Superintendent had been received with "a smile", "but" added Elliott, "I believe that within ten years a railway will be running through the Waimeas, and will eventually be carried right through". The first sod of the Nelson Foxhill railway was cut in May 1873– ten years after the Superintendent's "smile" materialised into a grant of £150 for a survey.





The last Appropriation Act included in the volume is for the year ending 31 March 1864 and contains the following item:


Introduction of useful animals including Alpacas– £450.


The proposal was for a herd of alpacas to be imported and farmed in the province with the object of producing fur as an alternative export. However, although preliminary steps were taken to acquire the alpacas they did not reach New Zealand, so any early attempt at diversification was thwarted.


The awareness of our early settlers to the danger of imported diseases and insect pests to our agricultural and horticultural pursuits is exemplified in an ordinance passed on 22 December 1854 to prevent the increase of the American Blight. Evidently the Provincial Council did not have scientific advice on the nature of the malady or its method of infection for it is refered to as "the Blight or Insect called American Blight". Any person who had any infected tree could after three calendar months' notice to clean such trees be liable to a penalty not exceeding forty shillings for failing to do so.


The issuing of licences became a popular method of raising revenue and one of the first classes of business to be affected was that of the auctioneer. The provision of the licensing of auctioneers had been covered by Legislative Council of New Zealand, but in 1858 this ordinance and its amendment were repealed by the Nelson Provincial Council and a new ordinance substituted authorising Auctioneer's Licences to be issued by the Provincial Treasurer on payment of a fee of £40.


Under the Hackney Carriages Act 1860 the owner of every carriage or other vehicle used for the purpose of conveying passengers or goods for hire to or from any place within or without the city of Nelson was required to have a licence issued by the Resident Magistrate upon payment of a fee of £1.


The Nelson Institute act 1859 authorised the Superintendent to convey a piece of land in the town of Nelson to trustees as a site for the Nelson Institute. The site contained three roods twenty perches being section numbered 178 with a frontage of 61 feet to Hardy Street and extending back at right angles with the front, 150 feet. The plan of the city in 1859 shows no sign of Harley Street which must have been taken at a later date from either Section 178 or the adjacent section 180. The Act states that an Institution had been established for the diffusion of useful information in literature, science and the arts called the Nelson Institute. Provision is made in the Act for five trustees nominated by members of the Institute to hold the land upon trust as a site for the erection of buildings for the Institute. In the following year (1860) the Nelson Institute Loan Act was passed, and this act enabled a loan not exceeding £1,000 to be raised for the erection of buildings on the land.


It is obvious that our early legislators had a wide variety of matters which demanded their attention in 
regulatiing 
[sic] and controlling the development of the infant province and Nelson was fortunate in that it had a man of the calibre of E. W. Stafford as Superintendent and able Provincial Council members such as Dr Renwick, Dr Bush, Charles Elliott, F. Otterson, J. W. Barnicoat, Dr Munro and others with comparable ability. This book sets out all the acts and ordinances to which these legislators addressed themselves and provides present-day readers with an insight into controls necessary to administer the province during the formative years.










Victoria University of Wellington Library




Journal of the Nelson and Marlborough Historical Societies, Volume 1, Issue 3, November 1983

Sixty Years of Service – The Echo of Blenheim








Sixty Years of Service – 
The Echo of 
Blenheim



(This article is condensed from a much fuller account written by Arthur J. Sprosen. A typescript of the full article is being deposited at the Provincial Museum where it may be consulted by interested persons).



A few years ago visitors to Blenheim who happened to be in the right place at the right time startled to see a ship apparently making its way across a paddock and disappearing among the trees. They could be forgiven for thinking it was an hallucination, but to inhabitants of Blenheim it was nothing unusual—just the scow Echo making its way up the tortuous Opawa River to the wharf in the centre of the town. For sixty years the gallant little ship was a life-line between Blenheim and Wellington. Despite trials and misfortunes, storms and the difficulties of the Wairau Bar she usually arrived sooner or later, and customers of the local shops were familiar with her vagaries being an excuse for the lack of commodities and the non-arrival of ordered goods.


Like many of the early scows her life began in Northland, the scene of much ship building activities. She was built by Brown & Sons of Northern Wairoa in 1905 for their own use as a timber trader with a 30 h.p. engine to help her in and out of port. She cost £3,700 to build. She was later sold to the Karamea Steam Ship Company for the Wellington Karamea trade and then to Richardsons in 1916. Her engines were changed to more powerful ones and she was used to carry frozen meat and coal between Wairoa and Napier until the opening of the railway.


In July 1920 she was sold to Charles Alexander Eckford of Blenheim and became the third scow in their small fleet that traded between Blenheim and Wellington.


Even before she joined the Blenheim fleet the Echo seemed to be accident prone– during the seventy years of her active life she clocked up an amazing number of disastrous happenings, but somehow survived them all! Surely a tribute to her builders. Before she was owned by Eckfords she had survived two fires. After 1920 there was no less than thirteen reports of mishaps such as broken shafts and masts and damage to machinery; at least eight collisions with other ships and beacons; and then there were strandings– eleven of which are reported. The famous Wairau bar was responsible for some while the narrow and winding twelve miles of river accounted for others.


One of the more spectacular accidents was in 1932 when she stranded at Pencarrow Head and struck the Pinnacle Rocks in heavy seas. The crew of ten took to the life boats thinking the scow had come to the end of her life. While they were at Fort Dorset in the care of the army the Echo slipped off the rocks, rolled over on her port-side and drifted towards the Port. The tug sent to locate her failed to find her, but next day she was found and towed to Clyde Quay Wharf where it was righted by the crane and unloaded. Her cargo consisted of Marlborough cider, wool, barley, about fifty crates of eggs (scrambled by now?) and boxes of butter– some of which had landed on the Petone Beach. The mate who was at the helm was sacked, it was said he was in a hurry to catch the last train to his home in Hutt Valley.


When she stranded on the Wairau bar she was sometimes freed by the next high tide, but often had to wait for a spring tide and the help of other boats. Eckfords did not keep a tug, but the small cargo lighter, Standard, would go along side and take off 27 tons of cargo.


In 1960 when the Echo was the only ship the firm owned, she was bar-bound for ten days when returning to Blenheim. It happened to be the 

whitebait season so the crew occupied themselves catching them by the 4 gallon tinful. Fortunately the weather remained calm and at low tide it was possible to walk round the ship. Eventually a road was bulldozed to the side of the scow and local trucks drove alongside. Nearly 200 tons were unloaded and brought into Blenheim. The scow was re-floated on the next spring tide with the help of a pull from fishing vessels. When she stranded in the river she usually lifted off on the next high tide.


There were collisions between the Echo and various harbour ferries, and even beacon lights, as well as with other small ships; in most cases with little damage. In 1948 heavy seas were responsible for a disaster. The scow had successfully navigated the 12 mile river journey and the Wairau bar and got as far as Cook Strait where there were heavy seas. Progress was slow with high seas and strong winds buffetting the small craft. It soon became apparent that she was being blown past the entrance to Wellington Harbour and toward Hawke Bay; then a huge wave struck the starboard side damaging the bow. Captain Tom Eckford had to radio for a tug to come to the rescue and tow her to port. She was unloaded and repaired but the master lost his job!


The most unusual experience of the Echo was during World War 11 when she was requisitioned by H.M. the King and the United States Navy for service in the Pacific. From 1942 - 1944 she was in and around the Pacific Islands. As part of the American Navy she voyaged over 40,000 miles. She was fitted with two extra lifeboats, extra crew and extra accommodation and A.A. guns. It was reported she met a few Japanese but escaped. She returned to the N.Z. Government in 1944 and was purchased by Eckfords. Her war service became a film in 1961, "The Wackiest Ship in the Army" (she actually served in the Navy!) The picture company wished to buy her but Eckfords refused to sell or let her be taken out of N. Z. waters, so in most sequences it was not the real Echo who appeared. Those who knew the ship were not impressed with the film.


I recall a visit to the Echo about two years before she ceased to cross the Strait. The wharf is right in the centre of Blenheim, it was a cold night but the scow was warm, we wandered all over her ending up in the engine room just as the first engine was started. From the wharf we saw the captain board the scow and watched as the Echo was pulled astern and twin searchlights 
were switched on to help the Master in his navigation of the dark Opawa river.


From 1965 all local freight for the North Island was carried by railway wagons via the Cook Strait ferries. As the wagons are hired by Transport Nelson Ltd., the service is called Trans Echo. In August 1969 a disastrous fire completely destroyed the old wharf, hundreds of tons of freight plus some historical shipping photographs dating back to the first ships owned by the company. It was a great blow to Captain Thomas Sugden Eckford whose grandfather of the same name started the locally owned river service in 1881.


And what of the fate of the Echo? On August 20 1965, under Captain Delziel, she sailed from Wellington for the last time. Just after midnight she grounded on a mud bank some 500 yards from the Wairau bar, but the next morning the rising tide re-floated her and she set off up the Opawa River. She arrived at the Wharf about 2 p.m., her last river voyage over. She was sold to the Chatham Islands for cray fishing but this venture failed and she was at a Lyttelton wharf for sale. She was bought by Mr R. Mason of Spring Creek (now of Blenheim). She was brought back to Marlborough and kept at Picton and later at Blenheim. An Echo Restoration Society planned to restore her 

but this also was found impractical and after some years was lowed to Picton and handed over to the Marlborough Cruising Club. She is now their headquarters, beached on heavy wooden blocks and securely bolted down. Her masts have been stepped with two of her sail spars and what was once her cargo hold is now a large dining area, dances can be held aboard also. Today one can see the Echo near the Boat Marina and visits can be arranged. So the Echo who is said to have crossed Cook Strait 15,000 times sails no longer, but today looks a picture to those who once sailed on her and stands as a memorial to all the little scows of yesteryear.




[image: An early photo of the Echo. – J. N. W. Newport.]
An early photo of the 
Echo. – J. N. W. Newport.
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By Land and sea. This is a personal record by H. L. Moffatt and is one of the very few records of experiences on the goldfields at Collingwood, Wangapeka. Wakamarina. Sutler and Otago. $8 posted.


Write: Nelson Historical Society, C/- P. O. Box 20069. Stoke.
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